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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
annual report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit 2302, 23/F,

New World Tower 1, 18 Queen’s Road Central,

Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 309 Ugland House,

South Church Street,

George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall,

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman,

KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,

Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited

10th Floor, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Citibank N.A.
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

STOCK CODE
8006

WEBSITE

www.sinosplendid.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LR

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS

HIGHLIGHTS

The following table sets forth certain financial information of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the

years indicated:

MRREERERE

TRHEJNARFREMBE LR (AR
SEDRARFENE THHER:

Operating results (HK$’000) REXE(THER)
2022 2021
—E-_F —E-—4F
Revenue ] 66,267 63,663
Loss for the year FANEE (43,023) (22,130)
Financial position (HK$’000) B#ARR (FHET)
2022 2021
—BE-C=F T —F
Equity attributable to owners of ZN/NSIES YN A
the Company 100,776 132,518
Total assets BEE 110,423 154,684
Net assets FEE 102,805 134,547
Financial statistics MK EE
2022 2021
—B-C=F —ET-—F
Current ratio’ T Eh b & 13.62 7.15
Total debts to total assets ratio? RISt 8 & B b %2 0.07 0.13
Return on total assets (%)’ 484 7 B ¥R (%)° (38.96%) (14.31%)
Return on sales (%) $HE @K (%) (64.92%) (34.76%)
(Loss)/earnings per share — basic’ Bk (BER) /BF - ZEF5 (31.77) (18.86)
Net assets value per share® BRCEEFES 0.76 1.15
HEERGRZERARLF TR CFFR 5



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR

Notes:

6

Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities.

Total debts to total assets ratio is calculated by dividing the total
indebtedness by total assets.

Return on total assets is calculated by dividing the profit for the
year by total assets.

Return on sales is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by
revenue.

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year by weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets
by weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year. Net assets represent total assets less total liabilities.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors of the
Company, | hereby present the Group’s results for 2022 to our
shareholders.

A 2022 travel review by ForwardKeys paints a conflicting picture
in which optimism over an apparent return to ‘normal’ following
the COVID-19 pandemic is offset by pessimism regarding other
threats including escalating geopolitical tensions and industry
challenges.

Sharing the view in certain way, a WTTC (World Travel & Tourism
Council) report also indicated that government support has been
instrumental throughout the crisis, the swift recovery of the
sector will only be possible if leaders and public officials work
together and provide clear and consistent rules. Governments
need to focus on co-existing with COVID-19 while enhancing
preparedness for future crises, offering safe travel experiences,
supporting equitable vaccine distribution, and continuing to
ease the conditions of entry to destinations. Research shows that
the sector could return to 2019 levels by the end of 2023. What
is more, the sector is expected to create nearly 126 million new
jobs within the next decade. Besides, following the cancellation
of the restriction of cross-border mobility in 2023, enterprises
were getting back on track gradually. It was likely that more
advertising and media services will be placed by the enterprises.
We believe the demand of the advertising and media business
will stay strong in long term and our group is well positioned to
capitalize the opportunity. Meanwhile, we devoted substantial
effort in integrating sustainability practices into our daily
operations to create value for our stakeholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, customers, suppliers and business
partners for their continuing support, and also to members of
the Board, the management, and employees who have been
dedicating to the development of the Group, for their invaluable
contributions.

Mr. Wang Tao
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBFNWN DN

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group are
principally engaged in (i) travel media operations with provision
of advertising services through the internet and travel magazines,
event organizing services and magazine publication (“Travel
Media Business”) (ii) provision of contents and advertising
services in multiple well known financial magazines distributed
in The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and provision of
advertising services through the internet and others media
channels (“Financial Magazine And Other Media Business”); (iii)
investment in securities (“Securities Investment”); (iv) money
lending (“Money Lending Business”); and (v) virtual reality
business (“Virtual Reality Business”).

The Group’s total revenue increased by HK$2.6 million or
4.09%, from HK$63.7 million last year to HK$66.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 primarily due to the revenue
increase from Financial Magazine and Other Media Business.

Gross profit of the Group was HK$21.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, representing a decrease of HK$5.4
million or 19.8% as compared with HK$27.2 million in 2021.
Gross profit margin for the year reached approximately 32.9%
(2021: 42.7%), representing a decrease of 9.8% over the last
year.

The Group recorded other income, gains and losses in the net
gain amount of HK$1.2 million during the year, compared
with HK$4.7 million net gain in the corresponding period of
2021, which was mainly due to an increase in realised loss on
financial assets at FVTPL in 2022 and no dividend income for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The impairment approach in HKFRS 9 is based on expectations
as opposed to incurred losses under the predecessor accounting
standard. This means it is not necessary for a loss event to occur
before credit losses are recognised.
is recognised for expected credit losses and is remeasured at
each reporting date for changes in those expected credit losses.
HKFRS 9 is purposefully designed to be forward looking and
reflect expectations of future credit events impacting loans and
receivables on the statement of financial position. It is important
when determining what ‘forward looking” information should
be used as it must reflect the forward-looking information that
existed at the reporting date.

Instead, a loss allowance

8 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

At the reporting date, the COVID-19 pandemic was affecting all
major economic and financial markets, resulting in many sectors
facing challenges associated with the economic conditions. As
the pandemic evolved, the management expected all entities to
experience conditions often associated with a general economic
downturn, including, but not limited to, financial market
volatility and erosion, deteriorating credit, liquidity concerns,
further increases in government intervention, increasing
unemployment, broad declines in consumer discretionary
spending, increasing inventory levels, reductions in production
because of decreased demand, layoffs and other restructuring
activities. Contingent on the continuation of these circumstances
a potential broader economic downturn could result with a
prolonged negative impact on the Group’s financial results.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the
management had from time to time during the financial period,
communicated with the debtors about their financial condition.

Based on the Group’s understanding from the foregoing
communication and the results of its review on their respective
financial information and after taking into account their
repayment history and certain forward-looking factors specific
to each of them, especially on the effect on the COVID-19, the
Group recorded the impairment losses under expected credit loss
model, net of approximately HK$23.8 million (2021: reversal
of HK$5.7 million). The Group made provision for impairment
losses on accounts receivable when the borrowers with overdue
payments. The Directors considered that the amount of the
impairment losses was fair and reasonable.

The selling and distribution costs decreased by HK$2.8
million to HK$4 million during the year (2021: HK$6.8
million), representing an decreased of 41.2% against the year
of 2021. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
marketing expenses. The administrative expenses decreased
by approximately HK$14.4 million to approximately HK$38.1
million during the year (2021: HK$52.4 million) representing a
decrease of 27.3% against the year of 2021.

As a result, the loss attributable to owners of the Company
was HK$43 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 as
compared with a loss of HK$22.1 million in 2021.

During the current year, no government grants was recognised
by the Group (2021: HK$7.6 million) in respect of COVID-19
related subsidies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBFNWN DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Industry Review

The travel media business has been heavily impacted by
the COVID-19 pandemic, with many travel publications
experiencing a decline in revenue due to the decrease in travel.
The travel media business has been shifting towards digital
channels in recent years, digital platforms and online contents
help staying competitive in a crowded marketplace. Besides,
the sustainability and personalization are becoming increasing
important in the travel media business. While the advertising
services business has potential trends and challenges. Investing
in digital and online platforms can stay competitive in this
sector. As with the travel media business, creative content is
becoming increasingly important in the advertising services
business, advertisers will need to create high-quality content
that engages consumers and delivers their message effectively.
Moreover, new technologies are creating new opportunities for
advertisers to engage consumers in innovative ways. Advertisers
that can effectively leverage these emerging technologies and
adapt to changing consumer preferences may be able to stay
ahead of the curve and stand out in a crowded marketplace.

Travel Media Business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Travel Media
Business recorded a revenue of HK$14.9 million, decreased by
1% or HK$0.1 million as compared with that of HK$15 million
in 2021. This amount represented 22.9% of the Group’s total
revenue for the year under review.

The business recorded a segment loss of HK$8.1 million this
year, representing an increase of HK$10.6 million with that a
segment gain of HK$2.5 million in last year. The increase of
losses was mainly due to no government grant during the year.

Financial Magazine And Other Media Business

During the year, the Group engaged in provision of contents
and advertising services through travel and financial magazine,
internet and other media channels. The Group timely grasped the
opportunity in advertising on digital platform and other media
channels.

Revenue from this business was HK$46.9 million, which
contributed 70.8% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
under review. Segmental losses of this business during the year
amounted to HK$15.4 million.

Securities Investment

As at 31 December 2022, total market value for the held for
trading investments of the Group was approximately HK$6.6
million and recorded fair value loss of approximately HK$3.44
million. During the current years, the Group realised a loss
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$5 million (2021: gain HK$4.05 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no investment
exceed 5% on total assets of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

During the year, the Group conducts its money lending business.
The Group’s clientele primarily consists of niche customers
including corporations and individuals. Most of the clients were
acquired through business referrals and introductions from the
Company’s directors, senior management, business partners or
clients. Besides in compliance with all rules and regulations
imposed under the MLO, the Group has also formulated internal
money lending policy to guide the money lending operations.
The loan terms would be arrived at after considering a
combination of factors including prevalent market interest rates,
the financial strength of the borrower, the collaterals offered as
past credit history of the borrower with the Group and adjusted,
if necessary, by arms-length negotiations with the borrower.
Revenue from this business was HK$1.1 million, which
accounted for 1.66% of the Group’s total revenue for the year.
A total principal amount and accrued interest of approximately
HK$9.7 million remain outstanding. The Group retained
an independent professional valuer to conduct impairment
assessment on the outstanding loans in view of the deteriorated
financial status of certain borrowers during the year. The Group
will closely monitor to the status of the receivables, keep
updated the status of the borrower and take relevant actions
including but not limited to communicate to the borrowers and
take reference to their explanation for the failure of repayment,
their updated financial status, their steps to correct their
problems and new schedule for repayment etc.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBFNWN DN

Business Model

In respect of the money lending business, the Group targeted on
variety of customers including individuals and corporations by
providing secured or unsecured loans. The source of customers
is mainly past customers or referrals by third parties. Loans are
mainly of unsecured loans by three individuals which had a
good standing on their background and income proof and they
were referred by the past customers with good standing on the
loan and interest repayment. The source of funds for the money
lending business is funded by the internal resources of the
Group.

Major Terms of Loans Granted

As at 31 December 2022, loan receivables with the aggregate
gross principal amount approximately of HK$11,000,000 and
HK$823,000 interest receivables (2021: gross principal amount
of HK$11,000,000 and no gross interest receivables) were
due from three (2021: three) independent third parties. The
interest rates of the loan receivables range from 8% to 10% per
annum (2021: 8% to 10% per annum.) on the principals from
HK$3,500,000 to HK$4,000,000 (2021: from HK$3,500,000
to HK$4,000,000). Three (2021: three) of the loan receivables
are unsecured, of which the largest loan receivables of
approximately HK$4,000,000. Three of loan receivables were
repayable in 2023.

Loan Impairments

The loan impairment was recognised due to the expected credit
losses. In 2022, the economic downturn will be continued due
to the continuation of the epidemic and the outbreak of new
wave of epidemic in the first quarter of 2022 which may affect
the repayment ability of the borrower, thus affecting the Group’s
expectation to each of the borrowers on their ability to repay
their debts. Therefore, when estimating the default rate of loan
receivables, the Group considered that the default rate of each
borrowers increased in 2022. Besides, the Group based on the
borrowers’ current financial status by communicating with the
borrowers, referring to their past and current repayment records,
loan terms, and the value of the collaterals, and will make
further additional independent adjustments, to calculate the loan
impairment for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Internal Controls

The Group manages credit risk through review and credit
approval and post-transaction monitoring processes which are
performed by management. Before the loans were granted, an
independent credit risk assessment has been performed. The
independent credit risk assessment including but not limited
to the background check, income or asset proof of individual
customers and financial reports of corporate customers and the
verification of the authenticity of the information provided, to
ensure the recovery ability of the loan.

The Company has adopted the procedures on monitoring loan
repayment and recovery which involve (a) the borrowers is
required to report on the financial or business performance
periodically; (b) it is required to report to the Company for
any material defaulted loans immediately upon occurrence;
In respect of delinquent loans, the standard demand letters
will be issued. If no satisfactory response is received, formal
legal demand letters will be issued. Thereafter formal legal
proceedings may be issued where appropriate.

VIRTUAL REALITY BUSINESS

The Group entered into virtual reality business in January 2020.
The Group currently applied virtual reality technology in games
and may apply the technology in other areas later. Revenue from
this business was approximately HK$3.3 million for the year,
which accounted for approximately 5.02% of the Group’s total
revenue for the year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
28 June 2022 and 31 October 2022. An indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and the Purchaser entered into the
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to dispose
of a subsidiary companies, and the Purchaser agreed to acquire,
the Sale Shares at the Consideration of HK$10.0 million.

The Disposal Group is mainly engaging in travel media business
in Singapore. Under the COVID-19 pandemic, protracted social
distancing restrictions and cautious travel media business
seriously posted constant challenges to the business of the
Disposal Group. Epidemic prevention policy remain existing
in some countries which hindered the resumption of the travel
media business. Affected by the worse market condition of
global travel media business, the Disposal Group performed
worse and anticipated substantial loss during the first half of
2022. In light of the above, the Company considers that the
business outlook of the Disposal Group is uncertain and believes
that the Disposal will help to enhance cash balances of the
Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBFNWN DN

The Company is shifting focus on the event organizing services
and others profitable media services and the Directors consider
that the Disposal will not have significant impact to the overall
business of the Company. In view of the aforesaid, the Directors
consider that the terms of the Disposal are fair and reasonable,
on normal commercial terms and in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole.

On 31 October 2022, The Vendor has performed all of its
obligations under the Agreement and the Purchaser has fully
paid the Consideration in accordance with the Agreement. Since
all conditions precedent of the Agreement have been fulfilled,
Completion took place on 31 October 2022.

PROSPECT

With China’s sudden COVID policy change in late December
2022, allowing quarantine-free entry for travellers from 8 January
2023, the 2023 outlook appears positive. However, with Chinese
people starting to travel, some predicted a surge in cases across
the region in two waves — one in mid-January and another after
the Lunar New Year festivities, when many Chinese return to
their hometowns. The situation is expected to stabilise in early
March 2023. Nonetheless, the expected travel surge is likely to
inspire confidence in the market place with increased advertising
and exhibition spending. Our Chinese advertising sales team
who have been in close contact with advertisers throughout the
COVID period will work to drive revenue, so to make up for the
COVID-driven slump in the last couple of years.

For 2023, the groups will maintain the same calendar according
to 2022. Advertising and media operation teams are spending
looks on track to increase slowly as airlines increase routes/
frequency and international travel continues to recover.
However, global inflation and recessionary indicators may
slow the rate of recovery towards pre-COVID level. Financial
Magazine and Other Media Business groups will continue to
target both state and privately-owned entities to drive top line.
While the Group will double its efforts in 2023 to revive special
project titles as well as seeking new opportunities for growth,
the Group will explore series media business channel and offer
event management services in addition to managing existing
media business and events in PRC and Hong Kong markets.

We will actively expand the customer base and will explore
business opportunities in the area of the financial magazine and
other media business and seek the better opportunities in other
industry with potential in particular.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Directors endeavor to seek more business opportunities
in the financial industry as well as other industries to diversify
the Group's existing business stream to enhance the long-term
benefits of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally
generated cash flows. The Group’s total equity was HK$102.8
million as at 31 December 2022, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$31.7 million as compared with that
of HK$134.5 million as at 31 December 2021. Total assets
amounted to HK$110.4 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$154.7 million), of which HK$31.2 million (2021: HK$37.2
million) as bank balances and cash, none (2021: HK$4.3
million) was equity investments at fair value through profit or
loss, HK$6.6 million (2021: HK$26.6 million) was held for
trading investments.

Capital structure

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s consolidated net assets
was HK$102.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$31.7 million as compared with that of HK$134.5 million in
2021.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has 147,540,930
shares of HK$0.04 each in issue. The value of share capital was
approximately HK$5.9 million as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: approximately HK$4.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBFNWN DN

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

As at 31 December 2022, in order to support the development
of the Group’s media business, the Group has engaged in certain
fund raising activities, details of which are set out as follows:

Issue of corporate bonds

At the end of the reporting period, all outstanding principal
amount of the corporate bonds, being HK$6,000,000 (2021: Nil)
and the corresponding outstanding interest, being HK$360,000
have been fully repaid by the Company. The net proceeds from
the corporate bonds, after deducting the other related expenses
payable by the Company, were approximately HK$5.95 million.
The actual use of proceeds is approximately HK$5.95 million
for general working capital, such as staff salaries, marketing
expenses and others operation cost. As at the date of the report,
the proceeds were fully utilized as intended.

ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Reference is made to announcements of the Company dated 23
May 2022, 9 June 2022, 15 June 2022 and 16 June 2022. On 23
May 2022 (after trading hours), the Company entered into the
Placing Agreement with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which
the Company has conditionally agreed to issue and the Placing
Agent has conditionally agreed to procure, on a best effort basis,
not less than six Placees to subscribe for the Convertible Bonds
with an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$9,250,000 at
the Conversion Price of HK$0.10 per Conversion Share.

The Company will apply the net proceeds as to general working
capital of the Company and settlement of indebtedness under the
bonds issued by the Company of approximately HK$6.4 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

The 2022 Placing of convertible bonds
Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 23 May 2022, 9 June 2022, 15 June 2022 and 16 June
2022 (collectively the “2022 Placing Announcements”). As
disclosed in the 2022 Placing Announcements, the net proceeds
of the 2022 Placing (after deduction of fees, commissions and
expenses) amounted to approximately HK$9.02 million (the
“2022 Net Proceeds”). The Board would like to provide further
information pursuant to Rule 18.32A and Rule 18.32(8) of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) in

relation to the use of the 2022 Net Proceeds as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBFNWN DN

Charges on the Group’s assets

There was no charges on the Group’s assets as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Borrowings

The Group has no borrowings for financial institutions as at 31
December 2022 and 2021. Details of corporate bonds payable
by the Group is set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group’s total bank balances and cash amounted
to HK$31.2 million as at 31 December 2022, which decreased
by HK$6 million as compared with that of HK$37.2 million as at
31 December 2021.

The gearing ratio (net debts divided by shareholders’ equity) was
Nil as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 4%).

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and any
related hedges

The majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities and business
transactions were denominated in Singapore dollars and Hong
Kong dollars. During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, the Group had not entered into any hedging arrangements.
However, the management will continue to monitor closely its
foreign currency exposure and requirements and to arrange for
hedging facilities when necessary.

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

Employee information

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 42 (2021: 45)
employees, of which 13 (2021: 6) were based in Hong Kong, 15
(2021: 7) in China, 14 (2021: 33) in Singapore, and Nil (2021:
1) in Malaysia. The Group’s employees are remunerated largely
based on their performance and experience, alongside with
the current industry practices. The Group has introduced share
option scheme to recognize the contributions of the employees
to the growth of the Group. The scheme has been or will be
amended from time to time to take into account changes in
market conditions and the GEM Listing Rules. Remuneration
packages of employees include salaries, insurance, medical
cover, mandatory provident fund, discretionary bonuses and
share option (if any).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENSHREEERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Wang Tao

Mr. Wang, aged 65, was graduated from the Hebei University
with a bachelor’s degree of Engineering in 1982. He has
accumulated more than 20 years of experience in investment
and construction management. Mr. Wang was the deputy general
managers of a private real estate development company located
in Beijing since 2004. Mr. Wang was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 29 September 2015.

Yang Xingan

Mr. Yang, aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company in January 2015. He graduated from the Wuhan
University of Science and Technology, majoring in industrial
and civil architecture. He is a registered constructor in the
People’s Republic of China, a senior engineer and a member
of the Architectural Society of China. Mr. Yang has over 20
years of management experience in construction and real estate
development. He joined Hubei State-owned Huanggai Hu
Property Development Company (j#31b4& Bl & & & B EE E
F# T2 2 7A]) as a technician in July 1993 and was holding the
position as a general manager by the time he left in February
2001. Between March 2001 and July 2005, Mr. Yang was the
project manager of Archibal Decoration Co., Ltd. (I 17 F 5
#ak st T2 AR A F]) . From August 2005 to February 2009, he
joined Shenzhen Yingfeng Decoration Engineering Co., Limited
ORIl ABEMTIEABRAR])as a partner. Since March
2009, Mr. Yang has been the Legal Representative and Chairman
of Jiangsu Anxin Digital Property Co., Limited (L& & &8 F
EXERRAA]).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkSREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Yang Shuyan

Ms. Yang, aged 43, is a certified public accountant in the
People’s Republic of China. She graduated from the South
China University of Technology with a dual bachelor’s degree
in E-commerce and Technical English. She has over ten years of
working experience in auditing and finance. She had worked in
KPMG. She has served as the financial controller of a project
investment company in Shenzhen since October 2015. Ms. Yang
was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director and
chairlady of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 29 May 2015.

Wang Qingling

Ms. Wang, aged 38, she has over 10 years of experience in
administration and management and has rich knowledge in
merchandising. Ms. Wang was appointed as Independent
Non-Executive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 28 December 2018.

Lee Yim Wah

Ms. Lee, aged 50, she has over 20 years of experience in the
trading industry and has rich knowledge in sales and marketing.
Ms. Lee was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 31 March 2076.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Michael Yu Tat Chi

Mr. Yu, aged 58, he is obtained the Bachelor of Commerce
(Majoring in Accounting) of University of New South Wales,
Australia and is a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the fellow
member of CPA Australia respectively. Mr. Yu has many years
of experience in accounting, corporate finance and asset
management. Mr Yu was appointed as the Company Secretary
and Authorized Representative on 19 November 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in travel media operations with
provision of advertising services through the internet and travel
magazines, event organizing services and magazine publication;
provision of contents and advertising services in multiple well-
known financial magazine distributed in the PRC and provision
of advertising services through the internet and others media
channels; investment in securities and money lending. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 is set out in “Director’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Environmental Policies

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve a
balance between the quality and efficiency of our services and
the minimization of greenhouse gas emissions and environmental
degradation. Accordingly, the Group has taken a proactive
approach to effect internal and external communications by
means of telephone, emails and conferences or such other
communication means which are efficient yet environmentally
friendly. Also, the Group are able to minimize physical travelling
and printing.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance
with such requirements. The Company is not aware of any non-
compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Relationship with Employees

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and the stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and
support are of values at all times. The Group regularly reviews
compensation and benefit policies accordingly to industry
benchmark as well as the individual performance of employees.
Other fringe benefits, mandatory provident fund and share
options (if any) are provided to retain loyal employees aiming at
forming a professional staff and management team that can bring
the Group to a higher level of success.

Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Directors believe that maintaining a good relationship with
customers is one of the critical reasons for the Group’s success.
Our business model is to maintain and build up on our strong
relationship with our client base. Our mission is to provide the
finest services to our customers and the Group is constantly
looking ways to improve customer relation through enhanced
services. Also, the Group has maintained good relationship with
the suppliers to ensure their continued support to the Group in
the foreseeable future.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in “Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income” of
this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in “Financial
Summary” of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 December 2022, the Company has
147,540,930 shares of HK$0.04 each in issue. The value of share
capital was approximately HK$5,902,000 as at 31 December
2022 (31 December 2021: approximately HK$4,784,000).

Details of movements during the year in the share options are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements and
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME” section contained in this directors’
report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s by-law, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” and in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to Nil (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to which
the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject
to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration
of final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, inter alia, the Group’s operations,
earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and availability,
capital expenditure and future development requirements and
other factors it may deem relevant at such time. Any payment of
the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the articles of association of the Company and all
applicable laws and regulations.

The dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time and
there is no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or
declared in any specific periods.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” in this directors’ report and note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022 or subsisted at the end of the year.
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DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to approximately HK$Nil (2021: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, sales attributable to
the Group’s largest customer accounted for 6% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales attributable to the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for 29% of the Group’s total
sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 66% of the Group’s
total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable to the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 100% of the
Group's total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, nor
their close associates, nor any shareholder owning more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital had any interests in any of
the five largest customers or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no transactions
with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware of any
transactions requiring disclosure of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Yang Xingan
Wang Tao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Yang Shuyan

Wang Qingling
Lee Yim Wah
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In accordance with article 85 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), Mr. Wang Tao and Ms. Wang Qingling
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2 years.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’” approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are reviewed and
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out in “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”) an annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all the INEDs are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which
is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law and subject to the relevant
provisions therein, the Directors, company secretary and other
officers shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they may
incur by execution of their duties in their respective offices or
otherwise in relation thereto.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board is not
aware of any business or interest of each director and the
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing
Rules) of each that competes or may compete with the business
of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in which
a Director or a connected entity of that Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors of
the Company as set out in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as follow:

Long position/short position in shares of the Company

Long position/

Name Capacity short position
S 514 BRE KR
Mr Wang Tao Beneficial owner Long Position
IR/ELE BB A R

Mr Yang Xingan Beneficial owner Long Position
HERZ L EmlEAA TR

Note:

1. The relevant percentage is calculated by reference to the Shares in
issue on 31 December 2022, i.e. 147,540,930 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of
the Directors of the Company had any other interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
required standard of dealings by the directors to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, those persons (other than Directors
and chief executive of the Company) who had interests and
short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name Number of shares
i igng 4=
Niu Chengjun (Note 1) 22,336,184
Rt (HfatT)

Note: (1) The relevant percentage is calculated by reference to the

shares in issue on 31 December 2022, i.e. 147,540,930
shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no person
(other than Directors and chief executive of the Company) had
notified the Company any interests or short positions in shares
or underlying shares of the Company which was recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2013 Share
Option Scheme”) on 31 December 2013, which was approved
by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on the same date. The 2013 Share Option
Scheme will expire on 31 December 2023.

The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant share options to eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of the
Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible means to
reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefits to the
eligible participants.

According to the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the Board may
grant share options to eligible participants including employees,
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, consultant, adviser,
agent, contractor, customer and supplier of any member of the
Group and the Board has sole discretion to consider eligibility for
the 2013 Share Option Scheme on the basis of their contribution
to the development and growth of the Group.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all share options to be granted under the 2013
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company, which represents 10% of the issued shares of the
Company and must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company on the date of approval and adoption of the
2013 Share Option Scheme provided that the Company may at
any time seek approval from shareholders to refresh the limit
to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval by the
shareholders in general meeting where such limit is refreshed.
Share options previously granted under any share option schemes
of the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
in accordance with such schemes or exercised) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed.

The total number of shares issued and may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the 2013
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to each eligible participant in any 12-month period up
to and including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue as at the date of grant unless such grant has been
duly approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders in
general meeting at which the relevant eligible participant and
his associates were abstained from voting. Share options granted
to substantial shareholders or INEDs or any of their respective
associates in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s issued share capital on the date of grant and with a
value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance
by the shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 7 days from the date
of the offer upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Board. There is no general
requirement on the minimum period for which option must be
held before it can be exercised. All options must be exercised
within 10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price is determined by the Board and will not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares.
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The table below shows the details of the outstanding share
options granted to all grantees under the Scheme as at 31
December 2022. For further information please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 9 April 2021 and 11 April 2022
respectively. For further details on the movement of the options
during the reporting period, please see below.

TRIWFTNR -_BE-_—_F+-_A=+—H1E
BZEmmBEARACDE L mERITE
CIEBRENFE - EHE—FTER FL
BARARIBAEA AT -_—FEA A
FZEZZFWHA+—BHHAE RERE
HE EEEREES 2 E—TFBUOT -

Number of ~ Number of
shares options  Outstanding
Closing price Underlying  exercised share options
Immediately Number of share  during the as at
Name or category of Exercise price  before the options options  reporting 31 December
grantee Date of grant per share date of grant Vesting date Exercisable period granted granted period 2022
i
ZBCCE
t=A
BREE REREEE  =t+-8
RRAZES BERLEHA BRE REZABE EBORz  HAGE
¥ RHAH BRTHE BmE BEAM TTEHE BRE®E ROBE BREHRE BRE
(HKS) (HKS) (%)
(&) (&) (%)
Director
£
Mr. Wang Tao 11 April 2022 0.3272 0.312 None 11 April 2022 to 10 April 2024 1,157,450 - - 1,157,450
IBLEE “E-"#MA+-A & “RCEMAT-RE
“E-MENATA
Other employees
AfpES
10 employees 9 April 2021 0.328 0.308 None 9 April 2021 to 8 April 2023 7,716,400 - - 7,716,400
104(E8 ZR-FWANA & “R_-FRANAE
—F-Z¥MANR
9 employees 11 April 2022 0.3272 0.312 None 11 April 2022 to 10 April 2024 10,417,050 - - 10,417,050
9hER “R-CEWA+-A LS “EEMAT-RE
“ECMEEATH
Total 19,290,900 - - 19,290,900
a5t

* Every four (4) issued and unissued existing shares of HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company be consolidated into
one (1) consolidated share of HK$0.04 each pursuant to the Share
Consolidation which took effect on 24 June 2022.

The weight average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates of the exercise of the share options for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$0.3031.

As at the date of Annual Report the total number of securities
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
19,290,900, representing approximately 13.07% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company. The relevant percentage is
calculated by reference to the shares in issue on 31 December
2022, i.e. 147,540,930 shares.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees (including directors). Equity-settled share based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of
non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date
of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on
a straighted-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

During the period ended 31 December 2022, share options were
granted by the Company to its directors and employees, details
of which are as follows:

ESEWE

BROXARZ

AEERETEE (BREF)FLERA
BEARDBER 2R RABEARK
MARERZNFTRNRHBHRRATAN
RAECGEMERBIRFOTERIN G
B -RIRABEEURD SER 2 ARE L
FHEBEENAAE DREASEH KK
KEEB R 2 AR EBHRAERE
X XYBIETISRBGTNOEEHELR

%ERO

HE-_Z-_—_F#+-_A=+—HILFE"
ARABMEZREERHBERE FBW
T

Exercise

Number of price per

share options  Date of grant Exercise period share

BR

BRE#E RHEBAM T TEE

HKS$

BT

Directors 1,157,450 11/04/2022 11/04/2022 to 10/04/2024 0.3272

EE —E-_FMA+—H —E-__FWA+—RHE

—F-_WFEMALA

Employees 7,716,400 09/04/2021 09/04/2021 to 08/04/2023 0.328
(== —E-—FMANA “E--FMAARE
—E_=FWANR

10,417,050 11/04/2022 11/04/2022 to 10/04/2024 0.3272

—E-—FWUWA+—H

In accordance with the terms of the Scheme, the options granted
vested at the date of grant.

The fair value of the share options was estimated to be
HK$1,328,000, which was determined using the binomial
option pricing model. Where relevant, the expected life used
in the model has been adjusted based on management’s best
estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions
(including the probability of meeting market conditions attached
to the option), and behavioural considerations. Expected
volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the
past one year. The variances and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’
best estimate. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions.

RESERE R AR

—ET-__FWA+—HZE
—E-MFEWNA+H

BB EE BB RENR L BB
BB

MBI HE 2 A R EfHET 4 A1,328,000%8 7T -
DERZIEAAEEERN TUAEE W
B ZBEAFMAZESRFREREERE
BYIETEZE TERH (BEFAE
RIERM MG EE TN RITTARE
ZEERLE BTN -FBHRIETD
BEBE—FREREBEET TEBERE
AREMAATEERERBRIBEESZ
mEMFT-BREZEEBES TEERRK
EREHREMES -
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Inputs into the model

Grant date share price

BB HI(E

Exercise price

1T1EE

Expected volatility
8 HY R 1R

Expected life
BHFIR

Expected dividend yield
TEHA R B U s =R

Risk-free interest rate
4= 2| B 7 R
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Share options

granted on

11 April 2022
A

mA+—H

B

BB e

HK$0.3272
0.32728 7T

HK$0.3272
0.3272/87T
73.11%
2 years

26

1.41%
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the remuneration committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the remuneration committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” section of this
directors’ report.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Group and the employer’s
pension costs charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year are set out
in notes 31 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the financial year.

COMPANY SECRETARY AND COMPLIANCE
OFFICER

Details of company secretary and compliance officer of the
Company is set out in “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the issued
shares were held by the public) as required by the GEM Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice of annual general meeting of the Company will be
published on the website of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at www.hkex.com.hk and the
website of the Company at www.sinosplendid.com, as well as
despatched to shareholders of the Company in due course.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited
(“Elite Partners”).

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint Elite Partners as the auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
Wang Tao
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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ABOUT THE GROUP

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Sino
Splendid”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”, “we”, “us” or “our”) aim to be the most influential
and leading media publisher and event and exhibition organizer
in regard to its company vision. The Group is committed to
achieving the business goals and success, while simultaneously
integrating and adopting environmentally friendly measures;
providing a safe and decent working environment for our
employees, and achieving sustainable values for our stakeholders
and communities.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group is principally
engaged in the following areas, including:

(i) Travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines, event
organizing services, and magazine publication (“Travel
Media Business”);

(ii) Provision of contents and advertising services in multiple
well-known financial magazines distributed in The People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) (“Financial Magazine and Other
Media Business”);

(iii) investment in securities (“Securities Investment”);
(iv) money lending (“Money Lending Business”); and

(v) virtual reality business (“Virtual Reality Business”).

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group recognizes the importance of sustainable
development. Sustainability is crucial for the Group’s growth
in order to achieve business excellence and enhance long-term
competitiveness. The Group has established and implemented
various policies to manage and monitor the risks related to
the environment, employment, operating practices, and the
community. The Group always attaches great importance to
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues and has the
following responsibilities:

e review and monitor ESG-related issues on a regular basis;
e collect and compile data on ESG-related issues;

e analyse and report on the legal and moral compliance of
the ESG-related issues; and

e consult and jointly work with independent professionals and
consultants to overcome ESG challenges, if required.
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The key message of the Group’s sustainability mission is to
reinforce the positive correlation between risk management and
governance, followed by product innovation and management
innovation. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) oversees the
ESG management of the Group and has overall responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. The Board leads
and provides direction to management by instituting ESG
policies and initiatives, supervising their implementation and
monitoring ESG performance. ESG mindset should be inherently
integrated into daily operations and business decision-making.
In particular, the Board pays close attention to the risks brought
about by environmental and climate change, which are critical
to the media business. With proper risk management, the
Group is poised to capture various opportunities brought by
environmental change and to make respective policy adjustments
accordingly.

In order to have better management of ESG-related issues,
the Board delegated the management to set up an ESG
working group for the daily operation of the ESG strategy. The
ESG working group comprises representatives from various
departments and has been established to plan and coordinate
ESG initiatives within the Company. This working group helps to
coordinate the day-to-day execution of our ESG strategy and is
supervised by members of the senior management.

The Group recognizes that ESG policies and practices may
change over time in order to cope with the changes in its
business operations, organizational structures, technology
development, statutory requirements and the business and social
environment, etc. Hence, the Group is committed to providing
adequate resources to monitor the changes and enhance our
ESG capabilities to cope with such changes on an ongoing basis.
In addition, the Group acknowledges its moral obligation to
maintain a high ethical standard by maintaining transparency in
conducting business. The Group is adamant that it will continue
to be law-abiding and be in compliance with the rules and
regulations to achieve its goal of sustainable development in the
environment, society and employees.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group continues to engage the key stakeholders, such as
Board members, managers, employees, regulators,
experts, and suppliers, through daily interactions and working
closely with them to discuss and review areas of attention via
various communication channels.

external
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Materiality Assessment

Identifying the material ESG issues that matter the most to the
Group is a prerequisite for setting the framework for the ESG
Report and formulation of ESG management strategies. As such,
the Group regularly conducts internal materiality assessments
to determine the sustainability issues that matter the most to the
Group, which will become the main focus of our sustainability
strategy and facilitate the implementation of relevant initiatives.

Through the materiality assessment, the Group has identified
the key ESG topics that are “relevant” and “important” to our
business. Based on the result of the materiality assessment, the
issues listed below are of high priority to the Group:

BEEMFML
BAEAEEMERABEEMNESCGEER
#ll JF ESG 3R S HE 28 K Il FE ESG B I 2R K /Y
Az Al AEETHETRIEEN
i UEEEHASEREEMAIFESR
REE B2EARMIFEZRREKEN
FEEY VIREMAERENER.

BHRERMTE AKREEFHHNE RN
XBmEBHEE] M EE|NBERESG
HE-BREBEEUFHENER U TAKN
SEELEBENEIA:

Aspects Material ESG Issues
Bm EZESGEE
B. Social Aspect
B. #HEEM
B1. Employment Employee welfare
Inclusion and equal opportunities
Talent attraction and retention
B1. 1EfR & B &%
BREVEHRS
Wl R EAT
B2. Health and Safety Occupational health and safety
B2. BEEZA BEEREELE
B3. Development and Training Development and training
B3. R KIE TR R
B4. Labour Standards Prevention of child and forced labour
B4. & T8 B lbE T ekogilés T
B5. Supply Chain Management Supply chain management
Labour standards in supply chain
B5. #tiE#EE R i fE 58 12
HAE gL T2
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Economic value generated

e Protection of intellectual property rights

U Protection of customer privacy

Aspects Material ESG Issues
Em EEESGHEE
B6. Product Responsibility .
. Customer satisfaction
B6. EdmEIT s EAMKEEE
o IREMBERE
s EFMEE
c REEFILE
B7. Anti-corruption U Corporate governance
. Anti- corruption
B7. RES ° TEER
s ERF
B8. Community Investment e Community investment
B8. HEIZE o HEKRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Scope and Boundary

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) provides a detailed disclosure of the sustainability
performance, policies, and strategies of the Group, in particular,
TTG Global Limited and TTG Asia Media Pte Limited’s operations
in Hong Kong (collectively, the “Hong Kong operation”) for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), and
TTG Asia Media Pte Limited’s operations in Singapore (“TTG
Asia” or the “Singapore operation”) from 1 January 2022 to 31
October 2022 due to disposal of the subsidiary.

We apply the concept of materiality in the planning and
developing process of the ESG Report. Unless otherwise
indicated, the scope of the ESG Report covers the Company and
all its subsidiaries.
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Reporting Principles

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 20
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).
According to the guideline, the following principles are
underpinned:

1. Materiality: ESG issues that have major impacts on investors
and other stakeholders must be set out in this ESG Report.

2. Quantitative: If the key performance indicators (KPIs) have
been established, they must be measurable and applicable
to valid comparisons under appropriate conditions. They
must also be able to describe the purpose and impacts of
quantitative information.

3. Balance: This ESG Report must provide an unbiased
picture of the ESG performances of the Group. It should
avoid selecting, omitting, or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
readers.

4. Consistency: This ESG Report should use consistent and
statistical methodologies to allow meaningful comparisons
of related data over time. Any changes to the methods used
must be specified in the ESG Report.

Confirmation

The information documented in this ESG Report is sourced and
collected by the Group from official documents, statistical data,
management, and operation information in accordance with
relevant internal policies. The Group has established internal
control systems and a formal review process to ensure that any
information presented in this ESG Report is as accurate and
reliable as possible. In case of any discrepancy between the
English and Chinese versions, the English version shall prevail.

Feedback

The Group discloses the latest business and ESG-related
information regularly to investors and the public. We also
welcome investors and shareholders to share their views with
the Board of the Company by fax at +852 2237 7227 or via
email at info@sinosplendid.com.

RESERE R AR

RERA
RESCHERBEEBARIMER DA
(B X FT]) GEM 28 25 £ #3 BIl Bt 8:204%
BoREES ABREERERATRA:

1. BEEN EESCEHEHUREERH
MBHEELEEZER  KAESGH
HAEHER-

2. Bl MBFTYBERENRER %%
EREAATUELRNEE BN MME
HBE S L - PrET SRR TR0 78 B
MM ECERNBENRTE-

3. ¥ AESCHmERMNR A2 |
AREBEESG T HA R - A MR R
AJBE TR & b 3R &l R SR Sk A B Y
EEERIZHREAN -

4. —HMEAESCHREEA —HM AR
TE EHERBEBRAIEAEERREN
LB -EMERITEREMEE TR
BIEESGHREFFH A -

‘R
AESCHEHMNER KB AEBERENR
BAEBER WS E 7 XX St B8R A
NREBMEEER - AERBE D HIFT AEFER
25 E R EAEZIER  ARERR AR &
ZHMERIBER A EFR L EREA 5o P
RYXRABERMAD —HZE - BEAE R
RIHE o

I t&

AEEGFEHRAREERARBERNE
BMESGHEBER - RPATELRREE &
BREREBER (+852 2237 7227) REH
(info@sinosplendid.com ) B AR R ZEEE

SEHER.

P

TECFER 39



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BIE e R EARE

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

As a responsible enterprise, the Group makes every endeavour
to take effective environmental protection measures to minimize
the environmental impacts caused by the business operation.
The Group strictly complies with the relevant environmental
laws and regulations in Hong Kong and Singapore, such as
Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance,
Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance, Water Pollution
Control Ordinance, and Noise Control Ordinance. During the
Reporting Period, no non-compliance with any environmental
protection laws and regulations that had a significant impact
on the Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes had been identified.

Use of Resources

Given the Group’s business nature, the Group and its
daily operations have little negative impacts on the natural
environment. The Group only consumes the following resources
in insignificant amounts:

e electricity consumption to carry out its activities;

e freshwater supplies for general offices and maintaining
staff’s daily hygiene;

e fuel consumption used for business travel;

e packaging materials in the form of paper and paper bags;
and

e paper for printing and files.

We also promote the efficient use of resources under the 3R
(“Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”) approach in our Environmental
Policies and Guidelines.

Energy Use

The Group drives to reduce the energy use of both office
operations and event activities. As an environmentally friendly
measure, we have installed energy-saving equipment and devices
where feasible. During the Reporting Period, the total energy
consumption was 85.1 milliwatt-hour-equivalent (“MWh-e”); and
the energy intensity was 1.27 MWh-e per million HKD revenue.

Although energy use is not one of the material ESG topics, the
Group will continue to monitor the energy consumption and
improve efficiency in all operations. The Group is developing
its long-term reduction targets. In short term, the Group targets
to maintain or reduce the energy consumption level during the
Reporting Period by 2023.
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Water Use

Owing to the business and operation nature, the Group only
consumes freshwater for general office and daily uses, and all
its supplies are from the city’s central water supply network.
There was no water sourcing issue during the Reporting Period.
Although the total volume of water consumption is insignificant,
the Group implemented policies and guidelines encouraging our
employees to adopt good practices for water-saving as freshwater
is one of the most valuable natural resources on the planet today.
During the Reporting Period, the total water consumption was
19.7 cubic meters (“m3”); and the water intensity was 0.29 m?
per million HKD revenue. The Group is developing its long-term
reduction targets. In short term, the Group targets to maintain or
reduce the water consumption level during the Reporting Period
by 2023.
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2022 2021 2020  Unit

—2-- —EF-F ZE-F By

Direct and indirect energy consumption
by type
REAIINEER BEEFERE
Direct energy consumption 226.7 71.5 54.4 ()
BEERERBEREE B
Indirect energy consumption 22.1 32.5 41.6 MWh
BZERBREE JK BB
Total energy consumption 85.1 52.3 56.7  MWh-e
RERERE KEEEE
Intensity (by revenue) 1.27 0.82 1.38  MWh-e/HKD
million
#E (RKaEED) KEREES
BEBTT
Water consumption in total and intensity
BAKBRAKEE
Total water consumption 19.7 5.0 320 m?
BRAKE 33K
Intensity (by revenue) 0.29 0.08 0.78 m3*/HKD million
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Emissions

Air Emissions

In the Group’s operations, there are no industrial or commercial
processes with direct fuel combustion which cause air emissions
locally. In the Reporting Period, vehicle use in our Singapore
operation is the sole source of air pollutants, and the emission
figures are shown in the table below.

235 &)

ZERTRY I

EREENZLER TESHEMWENE
RS B R ) TR Sp R IRE
RmEHE ERMFMREHLED
B AR RIS RYEME—RR - PR
BN NRIR -

Air emissions 2022 2021 2020  Unit
BERFEBAE —RICf T —ZEZT-TH OBf
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) 5.1 1.6 1.2 kg
BEALY(NOY T
Sulphur oxides (SO,) 0.0 0.0 0.0 kg
e (so,) Tr
Respirable suspended particles (RSP) 0.0 0.0 0.1 kg
A A JF R T (RSP) T
Greenhouse Gas Emissions i = REPEIL

The main sources of the Group’s greenhouse gas (“GHG")
emissions include direct emissions from the combustion of
fuels in vehicles (“Scope 1”), indirect emissions of purchased
electricity (“Scope 2”), and other indirect emissions (“Scope 3”)
respectively. In the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions
were 38.8 tonnes of CO,-equivalent. The scope 3 emissions
included the greenhouse gases emitted from the paper waste
disposed at landfills, business air travel and water and sewage
processing. For details, please refer to the table below.

SEAERBHERNTIEZRRBEEWHM
RMEEENEZSER ([RET]) ER
B REEPER ([EE2 ) K H A & 5% BE
MTEEZ]) -RmEHE BEREY
PARE 7338.8M — (LA E B - S E35EN
BREEENUHEHE MM  Z MR LR
AR K 57K BR 3B T BE IR R E R B8 © &
BHE2HE IR

Greenhouse gas emissions 2022 2021 2020  Unit
BERBHEHE —RIF T ZEZ-TH Bf
Scope 1 emissions 15.6 4.9 3.8  tonnes CO,-e
HETHENE WS E S
Scope 2 emissions 9.0 14.6 21.1  tonnes CO,-e
BE2HRE W — A LiRE £
Scope 3 emissions 14.2 0.8 9.0 tonnes CO,-e
BEBHERE M-SR LiEE
Total greenhouse gas emissions 38.8 20.3 33.9 tonnes CO,-e
BERBHREES WS E S
Intensity (by revenue) 0.58 0.32 0.82  tonnes CO,-e/
HKD million
FE (RRaEE) ME—R(LIKE &
BEET

As GHG emissions are the key cause of climate change, the
Group shall continue to monitor the carbon footprint of our
operations and identify possible areas for mitigating our impacts
on the environment. The Group is developing its long-term
reduction targets. In short term, the Group targets to maintain or
reduce the greenhouse gas emissions level during the Reporting
Period by 2023.
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Waste Generation

The Group’s operations and activities do not generate any
hazardous waste; whereas an insignificant amount of non-
hazardous waste such as living and office wastes are produced
from the offices. In the Reporting Period, an insignificant amount
of non-hazardous waste was produced, and the waste has been
sent to landfills. We shall continue to keep track of the amount
of waste produced from our operations. No reduction targets
have been set for waste generation due to its insignificant
amount.

The Environment and Natural Resources

As a corporate citizen, the Group understands and respects that
we have a responsibility to the environment. The Environmental
Policies and Guidelines are implemented with an aim to
minimize the impact on the environment and natural resources.
Due to the business nature, the impacts of the activities on
the environment and natural resources are not material for
disclosure.

Climate Change

In recent years, climate change is s global environmental
problem affecting both Singapore and Hong Kong. It has
become a main world trend that all countries join hands to
respond to climate change and promote green and low-carbon
development. The physical and transition risks caused by climate
change may influence the business operation of the Group.

Average global temperature and sea levels are expected to rise
if carbon emissions from human activities continue to grow
unchecked, and the frequency and intensity of extreme weather
events are likely to increase. Extreme weather events can lead to
changes in rainfall patterns, resulting in more severe rainfall or
typhoons. The Group will review the existing measures to ensure
the safety of its employees during extreme weather.

Besides, changes in laws and regulations due to climate
change may also have impacts on business operation. Policy
changes regarding carbon emission restriction, carbon pricing
and reporting obligations may increase the Group’s operating
costs. The Group will monitor the issuance of new laws and
regulations and access the risk posted to the Group timely to
mitigate the effects to the Group.

The Group recognizes that the emission of greenhouse gases is
one of the factors leading to climate change. Although there are
no industrial or commercial processes in the daily operation, the
Group will still promote a green lifestyle among the employees
and strive to reduce the use of vehicles and electricity. The
Group will do its part to reduce emissions while ensuring that it
continues to grow and prosper.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The management of the Group believes that employees are
the most valuable asset and an indispensable part of our
business. Through the Human Resources Department, the
Group has adopted fair and equitable policies and practices, to
pursue and provide a safe and pleasant working environment
for all employees, regardless of age, gender, family status,
sexual orientation, ethnicity, creed, and religion, or other
characteristics.

The Group also recognizes the importance and necessity of
continuing training for the growth and development of its
employees. Therefore, the Group strives to provide training
opportunities and support in various ways.

Employment

We strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations in
our employment and labour process, for instance, recruitment,
dismissal, promotion, and remuneration of employees
regardless of where we operate. The legitimate rights and
interests of employees are protected in accordance with laws
and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations in respect of employment and labour practices, such
as Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employment Act of
Singapore, Labour Law and Labour Contract Law of the PRC.

Policies on employees’ rights and benefits, including public
holidays, annual paid leaves, sick leaves and maternity leaves,
have been formulated and executed per the Labour Law and
Labour Contract Law of Hong Kong and Singapore, and Salary
Payment Regulations of the operating regions. Employees in
Hong Kong and Singapore have been provided with Mandatory
Provident Fund (MPF) and Central Provident Fund (CPF).

The Group formulates its own reward system with reference to
market salary trends. The contribution of individual employees
to the Group is also a major consideration in salary adjustment.
Overall, there are three types of salary adjustment: regular
salary adjustment, seniority salary adjustment, and post-salary
adjustment. There was no change in its recruitment procedure
during this Reporting Period. No major changes have been made
to the appraisal, promotion, reward and penalty system. All
employees are liable for promotion based on their competence
and suitability for specific positions. When there is a vacancy,
priority is given to internal employees.
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Equal opportunity is provided to all employees in terms of
promotion, appraisal, training, development and other aspects.
Employees are not discriminated against or deprived of
opportunities based on gender, nationality, ethnic background,
religion, political affiliation, age, marital status, and physical
disability.

The Group mainly recruits local workers with suitable skills.
In line with the continuously growing business scale, the
Group also actively acquires talents from different countries
or background to join our team, which includes Singaporean,
Chinese, and Hong Kong workers. As at the end of the Reporting
Period, the Group had an aggregate of 42 employees, of
which 13 were based in Hong Kong, 15 in the PRC and 14 in
Singapore.

The following figures are based on the total number of
employees at the end of the Reporting Period, which includes
the employees in the Hong Kong operation as at 31 December
2022 and the Singapore operation as at 31 October 2022.

Number of Employee By Gender
EEHE (RiRED)

H Female Tt ®Male BM m <30

Number of Employee By
Geographical Region
BEHE (RHESHT)

M Hong Kong M PRC M Singapore
BB

FEl N3 EHEE

PEERRBERARLT

m31-40

B Management B Senior

FRERBEE T Hil BHRNEM
THEEVERE -RETEHEMR  E
B EERER FR BAER FHK B

WARERAMZ DB R KR EEE -

AEETERBABAERENABTA -
EEXRBRENHEA AEETEERR
TR RRE KHAT AT EEX -
BREFNE FEAEREFENTA-RHRE
HR AEBEHENHZEE HF138E
B 15BERE MI4BER K -

NTHEFERBREHEMANES @S H
PEEESEERE T -__F+ A
Zt+—BRFNEEEHEE T -_—_F1+
A=+—H®MEEBR-

Number of Employee By Age Group
EEHE (RFRARED)

41 -50 >50

Number of Employee By Level
BEZE (BB

Middle
= PR AR

Junior
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Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance and care to its employees’
health and safety in the workplace and strictly complies with
relevant laws and regulations, which include but not limited
to the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance. The Group
has equipped workplaces with a complete set of required safety
equipment and facilities. All supervisors and site managers are
constantly reminded to ensure that the workplace is safe by
taking all reasonable measures to place employee safety as the
top priority. It is the Group’s belief that all employees have a
duty to look after their safety. The integration of these principles
is the key approach of the Group on the health and safety of
employees.

In Singapore, the Ministry of Manpower performs regular checks
on office safety; occupational health, and safety measures, such
as the use of ladders for retrieving files from high cabinets.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have material
non-compliance with the laws and regulations in relation to
occupational safety and health in Hong Kong and Singapore
to prevent occupational health and safety risks and protect the
occupational safety of employees. There were no hazardous
activities involved in the Group’s operations. The Group did
not have any work-related fatal accidents and injuries in 2020,
2021, and 2022.

Number of work-related fatalities
ETEBERMILT M A

Rate of work-related fatalities
ETEBERMmMILT A AL X
Lost days due to work injury

RITEERTIERH

Development and Training

During the Reporting Period, the Group sponsored and organized
a total of 20 hours of training for 15 staff members, representing
14% of our total number of employees.

The Group continuously offers and sponsors training to staff
at all levels and of both genders to enhance their skills and
professional knowledge, which benefits the employees as well as
ultimately the Group. We will continue to explore and support
such a practice in the future.
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Labour Standards

The Group monitors the recruitment process closely in order
to ensure compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Group forbids any child and forced labour and strictly
complies with the Labour Laws of Hong Kong, Employment Act
of Singapore, and other applicable laws and regulations. The
Group strives to provide the required labour protection, safety
and health conditions to ensure employees’ safety during their
services.

We prohibit child and forced labour in any of our operations
including the production process. We have established a strict
protocol for hiring, of which we screen candidates in accordance
with the minimum age of their respective work locations. As the
minimum hiring age is 18 in Singapore, hired employees must
sign an employment letter to agree on the terms and conditions.

The Group also paid wages and salaries, benefits and
compensations on schedule. During the Reporting Period, there
have been no cases of prosecution against the Group due to
violation of any relevant labour laws and regulations including
but not limited to the prevention of child and forced labour.

OPERATING PRACTICES

The Group’s principal businesses in 2022 were:

[.  publishing of regional trade titles for the travel industry, and
Singapore maps and guides for inbound tourists. The Group
completed 5 specialized projects and entered numerous
partnerships with renowned global travel trade events and
organisations; and

[I. organizing of international trade events and exhibitions — a
total of 4 events in Asia were involved.

The Group exercises due care in dealing with its significant
number of suppliers and buyers. The Group needs to ensure its
product and service quality as well as observe its obligations on
fairness, equity and transparency on business and operational
practices.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group has formulated a Purchase Policy on the principle
that the purchases are not only for fulfilling the business needs
but also integrate social responsibility into purchasing decisions.
All of the suppliers will undergo the following reviewing
processes:

* Quotation comparison and review of supplier’s offering in
relation to procurement needs as well as track record;

e Outlining of expectations and requirements with
documentation in a formal contract/agreement;

e Confirmation of vendor through mutual acknowledgment of
the agreement;

e Feedback-loop process during the duration of service
between users and the vendor;

e Internal review of vendor satisfaction; and

e Sharing of internal review with vendor for the discussion
of next steps (either continue the contract with the vendor,
confirmation of vendor subject to select deliverables or
termination of the vendor).

Apart from assessing its suppliers on quality, cost, service
and delivery time, the Group also assesses whether potential
suppliers of goods and services have demonstrated that they
also commit to environmental and social responsibilities.
The environmental and social risk assessment for suppliers
would be conducted in a periodical basis based on the news
announcement, ongoing quality or work delivered. The Group’s
concerns in selecting our suppliers include their environmental
and social awareness, such as their policies on the use of
recycled or natural materials and forbidding child and forced
labour employment.

In addition, cost-saving and efficiency in logistics management
and goods travel are the Group’s guiding criteria affecting our
decisions. The Group has continued to adopt a decentralized
procurement approach at the operational level which is required
to follow the above policy and guiding criteria as strictly as
possible. Subsidiaries are given full autonomy in sourcing
suppliers based on their local business needs. The Group strives
to procure sustainable materials from local suppliers whenever
possible as a part of its effort to promote a low-carbon operation.
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The Group also continues to source our supplies from local
suppliers to support local economic development and ensure the
effectiveness of supply. According to the GRI G4 Sustainability
Reporting Guidelines, a local supplier is defined as an
organization that provides a product or service to the reporting
entity and that is based in the same geographical market as
the reporting entity (that is, no transnational payments to the
supplier are made). During the Reporting Period, the Group
had a total of 110 suppliers. 62% of the suppliers were from
Singapore.

With the Group’s belief in the value and benefits of building
trust with the suppliers, we continue to practice a transparent
tendering system for its procurement with the purpose to
eliminate malpractice and bribery incidents in accordance with
the local laws and regulations.

Product Responsibility

Product and Service Quality

The Group is deeply aware of the importance of product quality
of its saleable products and services. The Group has established
reporting systems on after-sales services to ensure that service
users and product buyers are satisfied with the products and
If there are any disputes, procedures and systems
are in place to timely address any dissatisfaction reported or
discovered. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
a record of compensating or refunding any sales based on the
quality of our products and services.

services.

Complaint management

Handling customer complaints is an important part of any
business. It is essential to have a process in place to ensure
that customers are satisfied with the service they receive.
This involves explaining why the customer’s complaint was
not addressed and what steps can be taken to prevent similar
issues from occurring in the future. Additionally, the Group also
offers other non-monetary service recovery efforts as a form of
compensation before direct refund. it may be
necessary to provide a refund if the customer’s complaint cannot
be resolved through other means.

In some cases,

Protection of Customer Privacy

The Group’s business operation has generated large volumes of
private and confidential information on buyers and suppliers.
We are both morally and legally bound to treat the information
and data carefully and have committed to abiding by the
requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong
Kong and other relevant laws, regulations and requirements.
The data of our customers and suppliers are kept under a secure
system by our senior management, and employees have been
warned not to access or use this information without approval.
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The Group also established “Privacy Policy” aiming to protecting
the privacy and personal information and periodic review of
the policy will be conducted by our corporate IT team. The
Group will not rent, sell or share the personal information of the
clients. The Group did not experience any private information
leakage during the Reporting Period.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group recognizes the importance of intellectual property
rights. The Group duly pays writers and designers who allow the
Group to print and use their intellectual property in its media
publications and international trade events and exhibitions. The
Group was not subject to any litigation for any infringement of
intellectual property rights for the Reporting Period.

Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining
openness, uprightness and accountability of its employees and
all employees are expected to uphold ethical, personal and
professional conduct standards. We have established a set of
stringent policies and code of conduct to emphasise values
of integrity, fairness, transparency and accountability to stand
against corruption and fraud. Our Employees’ Handbook
mentions that all directors, officers and employees of the Group
shall observe and be in compliance with high standards of
ethical behaviour. In addition, the Group’s strong stance against
corruption and fraud is communicated to all employees so as to
ensure they are fully aware.

All employees must ensure all expense claims relating to
hospitality, gifts or expenses incurred to third parties are
submitted in accordance with our expenses policy and
specifically record the reason for the expenditure. Employees
may not accept any gift or hospitality from our business partners.
If it is not appropriate to decline the offer of a gift, the gift may
be accepted, provided it is then declared to the Director and
donated to charity.

Whistle-blowing mechanisms can be triggered by revenues
through email when suspicious of any signs of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering issues. Staff are encouraged to
raise concerns about any issue or suspicion of malpractice
at the earliest possible stage with Director or the Company
Secretary. Information of the whistle-blower is confidential.
Once discovered and confirmed, the related personnel will be
punished according to the severity of the incident or his/her
employment will be terminated.
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To strengthen the anti-corruption practice and enhance its
employees’ awareness on conflicts of interest and integrity
issues, internal training and relevant materials relating to anti-
money laundering and anti-corruption will be provided to
Directors.

The Group was in strict compliance with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and no legal case regarding corrupt practices
was brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not violate any laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group relating
to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

COMMUNITY

Community Investment

The Group is committed to improving our communities and the
lives of stakeholders in our communities. The Group encourages
and supports our staff to take part in volunteer services such
as regularly assisting those in need or poverty and arranging
outdoor activities for disadvantaged groups. Internally, the Group
focuses on providing more job opportunities to new employees,
and improving employees’ working environment and skills by
investing in facilities and training.

The Group also strives to provide employment opportunities for
the disadvantaged, retired and disabled who have completed
retraining courses, and give priority to suppliers who hire
disabled persons.
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SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

(KPIS)

Environmental Aspects
Aspect A1: Emissions
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective
emissions data
Nitrogen oxides (NO,)
Sulphur oxides (SO,)
Respirable suspended particles (RSP)
A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and
intensity
Scope 1 emissions
Scope 2 emissions
Scope 3 emissions

Total greenhouse gas emissions

Intensity (by revenue)

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy
consumption by type
Direct energy consumption
Indirect energy consumption

Total energy consumption

Intensity (by revenue)’

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
Total water consumption

Intensity (by revenue)

REEE

EEA:HHY
ALl BHRYMBERERENEE

a&1m(NO)
naftnso,)

AR AR F (RSP)

A2 BERBASREREE

BEHENE
BELHME
BERHNE
BEREHNEE

BE (hia)

EHA2 - ERER

A2 BRERESMNEERR/SHE
ERHEE
ERERERE
Rk REES
HWJ—\/ Vor ﬁi

R (Bhas)

A2 BEKEREKEE
ke

R (k)

! To align with the intensity calculation of other KPIs and better
illustrate the performance, the intensity calculation has been
updated from the number of employees to annual revenue. The
amounts of annual revenue in 2020, 2021 and 2022 were HKD41.2
million, HKD63.7 million and HKD67.1 million respectively.
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2022 2021 2020 Unit
Social Aspects HEEE T8 “Z--F _T-RE OEf
Aspect B1: Employment? EMEB1: ER:
B1.1 Total workforce Bl EEAHK
Total number of employees EERAH 42 45 47 employee
32
By gender Female REREn & 27 30 30 employee
&8
Male it 15 15 17 employee
B8
By employment  Full-time RERELY 2R 41 44 47 employee
type EP EE
Part-time ®B 1 1 0 employee
&8
By age group 30 years old or below RERAR  30FANT 3 4 6 employee
£ B8
31-40 years old 31-407% 15 13 19 employee
[E8
41-50 years old 41-50%% 7 9 9 employee
k&
Over 50 years old 505500 | 17 19 13 employee
B8
By employee Managerial REEEHN EEE 16 17 - employee
category P B8
Senior L 11 12 - employee
&8
Middle i 14 15 - employee
B8
Junior Ik 1 1 - employee
32
By function Executive RREdn HeER 5 37 - employee
&8
Technical el 4 2 - employee
B8
Administrative Tl 10 5 - employee
B8
Production HE 23 1 - employee
8
By geographical  Singapore BEES  HNK 14 30 - employee
region &8
Hong Kong & 13 8 - employee
B8
China i 15 7 - employee
EE
2 The total number of employees displayed in the table includes the 2 KIEFITANEELBBERALEHREZ -
employees in the Hong Kong operation as at 31 December 2022 o+ A=+ —BRIMMKESER
and the Singapore operation as at 31 October 2022. E-T-Ft+A=t—HHWEE-
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Social Aspects

B1.2  Employee turnover rate’
Total employee turnover rate

By gender

By employment
type

By age group

By employee
category

By geographical
region

Female
Male
Full-time

Part-time
30 years old or below

31-40 years old
41-50 years old
Over 50 years old
Managerial

Senior
Middle
Junior
Singapore
Hong Kong
China

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
B2.1  Number of work-related fatalities

Rate of work-related fatalities
(per hundred workers)
B2.2  Lost days due to work injury

Aspect B3: Development and Training
B3.1 Percentage of trained employees
Percentage of total employees trained

By gender

By employee
category

By function

2 The calculation of the turnover rate is shown as below and the rate

Female
Male
Managerial

Senior

Middle

Junior
Executive
Technical
Administrative
Production

may exceed 100%:

Turnover rate = L / E * 100%

L = Number of employees leaving employment during the

Reporting Year

HEEE
B1.2 EER%®
BEREESRAE
RiERES i
Bif
REREY 2B
Eb)
®B
BERAA  30RILT
E
31-40%%
41-50%%
50500
REEEH EEE
el
B&
i
I
RWEES IR
Bk
HE

EEB : BEHZZ

B21 AIBEMATHAY

RIFBEMECHARYE

(MB1002 T AG)
B22 RATIEBBATHERY

EEB3 : HEEEH

B3.1 FHEEFH
BYEEEDL

RIERIB D

REEER

4
B

ERE

S
Gk
HES
i
(L
KE

E = Number of employees at the end of the Reporting Year
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2022 2021 2020 Unit
—BCCE -5 “T-TF B
24% 29% - %
30% 30% 33% %
13% 27% 1% %
24% 30% - %
0% 0% - %
19% 100% 67% %
27% 23% 1% %
29% 33% 33% %
6% 11% 38% %
19% - - %
9% - - %
43% - - %
0% - - %
71% 37% - %
0% 25% - %
- 0% - %
0 0 0 no.
%
0% 0% 0% %
0 0 0 day
X
36% 1% 34% %
53% 40% - %
47% 60% - %
27% 100% - %
40% 20% - %
33% 40% - %
0% 20% - %
27% 60% - %
53% 0% - %
20% 0% - %
0% 0% - %
MAEMFTE TN TR 5%t E Al g8
HBiB100% :
MAE=L/E* 100%
L= REFEHBEEAK
E=SREFERNEEAK
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2022 2021 2020 Unit
Social Aspects HEEE ZBIZE CZC-F CTCTHEOEf
B3.2  Average training hours completed B32 ERXINTIRY
Average training hours per employee BRETRIIGH 0.5 3.0 - hour/employee
NE/ER
By gender Female mEngEs it 0.3 2.7 - hour/employee
/R
Male Eilid 0.9 3.7 - hour/employee
&/ B8
By employee Managerial REEEHN BEE 0.3 0.9 - hour/employee
category b /BB
Senior =ik 0.9 0 - hour/employee
/B8
Middle ik 0.4 53 - hour/employee
&/ EE
Junior ES 0 40.0 - hour/employee
/BB
By function Executive RREdy HeER 1.0 3.6 - hour/employee
N/ EE
Technical B i 2.5 0 - hour/employee
&/ B8
Administrative Tl 0.5 0 - hour/employee
/BB
Production HE 0 0 - hour/employee
/BB
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management EEBs :ftIEHER
B5.1  Number of suppliers by geographical B5.1 BBEHIMULEFHA
region
Total number of suppliers HERmR 110 60 132 supplier
e
By geographical  Hong Kong EHREy FE 3 3 5 supplier
region feER
Singapore #IR 68 53 88 supplier
frEm
Australia L) 1 2 3 supplier
frem
Brunei HOR - - 3 supplier
fEm
Cambodia RER 1 - 1 supplier
fEm
China i 1 2 4 supplier
frEm
Germany o - - 3 supplier
e
India 0E 1 - 1 supplier
e
Indonesia ffe 3 - 4 supplier
HED
Italy BAM - - 1 supplier
e
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Social Aspects

Japan

Korea
Malaysia
Netherlands
Philippines
Spain

Sri Lanka
Taiwan
Thailand
United States

United Kingdom

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or
shipped subject to recalls

B6.2  Number of products and service-related

complaints received

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

B7.1

56

Number of concluded legal cases
regarding corruption

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is always committed to maintaining high standard of
corporate governance. The Company throughout the year 2022
has fully complied with the applicable code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

CULTURES AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain
its vision and strategy. It is the Board’s role to foster a corporate
culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the
Company’s vision, values and business strategies are aligned to
it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities
and operations. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the
required standards and norms are explicitly set out in the
training materials for all new staff and embedded in various
policies such as the Group’s employee handbook (including
therein the Group’s code of conduct), the anti-corruption
policy and the whistleblowing policy of the Group. Trainings
are conducted from time to time to reinforce the required
standards in respect of ethics and integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to
workforce development, workplace safety and health,
diversity, and sustainability is one where people have a
feeling of commitment and emotional engagement with the
Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a strong, productive
workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the best
talent and produces the highest quality work. Moreover,
the Company’s strategy in the business development
and management are to achieve long-term, steady and
sustainable growth, while having due considerations from
environment, social and governance aspects.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings in
securities (the “Required Standard of Dealings”) as set out in
rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors.
Following a specific enquiry made by the Company, all the
Directors confirmed that they complied with or they were not
aware of any non-compliance with the Required Standard of
Dealings for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing shareholders value.

For Board composition, please refer to the section “DIRECTORS”
in the “Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

The Board currently consists of five members, including two
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Board currently has three female Directors which
achieved the gender diversity in Board level. At least one of our
Independent Non-executive Directors has the professional and
accounting qualifications as required by the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year 2022, the Company has complied with
rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers them to be
independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material relationship) between members of the Board.
Biographies of Directors are set out in “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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Board responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Company’s businesses is vested
in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and determines the overall strategies and
decides on significant financial and operational issues. Types of
decisions reserved for the Board are those affecting the Group’s
overall strategic and financial policies, material contracts and
major investments.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the management which is responsible
for the execution of the strategies and polices adopted by the
Board.

Attendance at Board and general meetings

The Board held 8 meetings during the financial year ended
31 December 2022 to consider, among other things, reviewing
and approving the quarterly, half-yearly, annual results and
payment of dividend (if any) of the Group.

The attendance record of each Director at Board and general
meetings in 2022 is set out below:

Directors

E=x

Executive Directors BITES

Wang Tao I8

Yang Xingan BER
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Yang Shuyan 15 M ER

Wang Qingling ITER

Lee Yim Wah THE

The directors were absent from Annual General Meeting and
Extraordinary General Meeting due to isolation arrangements of
Hong Kong Government.
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ExEel BRAE
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7/8 1/2
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Directors’ continuous training and development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with updates on the Company’'s
performance, position and prospects regularly to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development (the “CPD”) to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in the CPD by
reading materials and/or attending training courses, seminars
or workshops organized by professional bodies on corporate
governance or updates on laws, rules and regulations relating to
the roles, functions and duties of a Director.

The individual record of each Director who received training for
the year is summarized as follows:

Directors

BEE

Executive Directors BTES
Wang Tao IE
Yang Xingan BEZ

Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BYFHTES

Yang Shuyan 15 MER
Wang Qingling IE®
Lee Yim Wah FHE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
segregated. The primary role of the Chairman is to provide
leadership for the Board and to ensure that it works effectively
in discharging its responsibilities. The Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s
business. The Group is still seeking replacement for the above
two position.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2 years
and are subject to rotational retirement and re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role
in the Board as they bring an impartial view on the Group's
strategies, performance and control, as well as ensure that the
interests of all shareholders are considered. All Independent
Non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic,
professional qualifications or related financial management
experience. None of the Independent Non-executive Directors
held any other offices in the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or is interested in any shares of the Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are made available to the
Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed
to assess the Directors’” independence annually with regards to
all relevant factors related to the Independent Non-executive
Directors including the following:

e required character, integrity, expertise, experience and
stability to fulfill their roles;

e time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

e firm commitment to their independent roles and to the
Board;

e declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as
Independent Non-executive Directors;

* no involvement in the daily management of the Company
nor in any relationship or circumstances which would affect
the exercise of their independent judgement; and

e the Chairman meets with the Independent Non-executive
Directors regularly without the presence of the executive
Directors

The Company has received from each Independent Non-
executive director an annual confirmation of his independence,
and the Company considers them to be independent in
accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees to discharge the
Board functions. The respective roles, responsibilities and
activities of each of the Board committees are set out below:

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the audit committee are to ensure (i) the
reliability and integrity of the financial reporting of the Group;
(ii) that effective risk management and internal control systems
are functioning within the Group; and (iii) an appropriate
relationship is maintained with the external auditor. The terms of
reference of the audit committee are available on the Company’s
website.

The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

Directors

Ex
BYFHTES

Independent Non-executive Directors

Yang Shuyan (committee chairlady) R (ZE2FE)

Wang Qingling TER
Lee Yim Wah T

During the year, the audit committee reviewed the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, reviewed the
annual results for 2021, quarterly and half-yearly results for
2022 and reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems.
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Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to (i)
determine the policy, procedures and criteria for the nomination
of directors, (ii) review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board, (iii) identify individuals suitably qualified
to become board members, (iv) assess the independence
of INEDs, (v) make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and (vi) monitor
the implementation of the board diversity policy. The terms of
reference of the nomination committee are available on the
Company’s website.

The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

Directors

Ex
BYFHTES

Independent Non-executive Directors

Yang Shuyan (committee chairlady) BREB(ZEELME)

Wang Qingling TE®R
Lee Yim Wah £ o

During the year, the nomination committee reviewed the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, assessed
the independence of all INEDs and reviewed the retirement of
Directors by rotation and the re-election of the retiring Directors.

Nomination Policy

The nomination committee will assess the candidate or
incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and
ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. The recommendations of the nomination
committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

Procedure for Nomination of Directors

When there is a vacancy in the Board, the nomination committee
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the
Board, and identifies any special requirements for the vacancy.
The nomination committee will then identify suitable candidates
and convene a nomination committee meeting to discuss and
vote on the nomination of director(s) and make recommendation
to the Board on the candidate(s) for directorship.

Criteria for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will consider candidates who possess
the particular skills, experience and expertise that will best
complement the Board effectiveness at that time. In considering
the overall balance of the Board’s composition, the nomination
committee will give due consideration to the board diversity
policy of the Company.

RESERE R AR

TRERRE

REEE®
REZECZTEREANEBETESRSA
MR BFRELE: (VBRI ESSHE
BBEE-EAREZT: (i PEesBK
MAZBEFEEREMALT: (iv) FFEBILIE
BITESENEYN: WREENZENE
FEAMESTEROLEZR Vi) EET
2L NtBRNER - REEZES 2B
EHEN ARG EES-

REZBGHEHKBALREZEERERAK
FELEGRBERMT:

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

HERE EFRY

11
1/1
1/1

FRNRERZESECRVESTERE R
BlRRZT BN FE2RBILIF
HITEENBYIM LRI EETREREIN
REEFEEREH-

BERE
REZBGHUTIREFGREARR
B OlE KR REE R AR K
ZHATHRENREN REZEENESR
RIEREE R AMIELIRE -

EEEFESF
EESSHRERE - REEZEGHTME
EEeMFE R MHELER LH =
RELDFECMASRER -REZEEH
HAlABEBANEYBHRERAZESS

v

%A

on

PRBEFETIMAER IAEFE
EEETEFENOAE-
EEEFMITE

RAZEHEBEABENTEHEE
EFERENFERE BREEXAH
MAE-REZEEREREFSANN
ERTVTER SEEBRERARREZTGK
BZITEBUR

TECFER 63



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERRE

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. It endeavors to ensure that the Board had a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Group’s business. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background and professional experience. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
Company will also take into account factors based on its own
business model and specific needs from time to time.

The nomination committee reviewed the board diversity policy
and achievement of objectives and effectiveness of the board
diversity policy, and recommended the Board that the existing
Board was appropriately structured and no change was required.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has adopted the model to delegate the
determination of the remuneration packages of individual
executive directors and senior management to the remuneration
committee. The committee is responsible for formulating and
recommending remuneration policy to the Board and reviewing
and making recommendations on compensation-related issues.
The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are
available on the Company’s website.

The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

Directors

Ex

Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Yang Shuyan (committee chairlady) BB (ZE8FE)
Wang Qingling TE®

Lee Yim Wah U
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During the year, the remuneration committee reviewed the
Group's policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors
and senior management, assessed performance of executive
Directors, reviewed and recommended to the Board the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management and
ensured that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Senior Management

The remuneration of the senior management whose particulars
are contained in “Biographical details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report for the year ended
31 December 2022 by band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$)

MeeEE (UBTHE)

Nil to 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

a. To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

b. To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

c. To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

e. To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company.

The statement of the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

During the year, the remuneration paid to the external auditor
for audit service is HK$410,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Yu Tat Chi, has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge in 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and put forward proposals at general meeting
Pursuant to article 59 of the Articles, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for directing enquires to the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the Company,
for the attention of company secretary, by fax: (852) 2237 7227,
or mail to Unit 2302, 23/F., New World Tower 1, 18 Queen’s
Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, ensuring that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Group maintains an effective internal control and risk
management system. The Company has engaged an independent
consultant performed the internal audit reviews for the Group.
The Independent consultant has recommended an internal audit
plan to the management of the Company and the Board, and
assisted the Company to review the internal control system on
certain selected processes for the year ended 31 December
2022. The management of the Company agreed on the findings
and adopted the recommendations accordingly.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management, independent consultant and
external auditors, conducted a review of, and is satisfied with
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2021
as well as the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
it is not cost effective in view of the small and simple size and
structure of the Group. However, the Board will continue to
review the need for one annually.

The Group adopted a risk management framework which

comprises the following processes:

— ldentify significant risk in the Group’s operation
environment and evaluate the impacts of those risks on the

Group’s business;

—  Develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and

—  Monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.
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The Group formulated the policies and procedures of risk
management and internal control as follows:

The Group established an organisational structure with clear
operating and reporting procedures, lines of responsibility
and delegated authority;

Each operating subsidiary maintains internal controls and
procedures appropriate to its structure;

Relevant executive Directors and senior management have
been delegated with specific accountability for monitoring
the performance of designated business operating units; and

A systematic review of the financial and business processes
in order to provide management the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls. Where weaknesses are
identified in the system of internal controls, management
will evaluate and take necessary measures to ensure that
improvements are implemented.

The Board and the Audit committee reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems adopted by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and considered that they
were effective and adequate.

Dissemination of inside information

The Group has management control to ensure that any material
information which comes to the knowledge of any officers
should be promptly identified, assessed and forwarded to the
Board (if appropriate).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE MEMBERS OF SINO SPLENDID HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sino
Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to
171, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2022,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key Audit Matter
RREETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFONMEEBRETSE

Impairment assessment on accounts receivable, loan receivables and other receivables

FE W B K  FE UK R % L Al P W R IR 2 IR (B T A

As at 31 December 2022, the net carrying amounts Our procedures in relation to management’s
of accounts receivable, loan receivables and impairment assessment on accounts receivable, loan
other receivables amounted to approximately receivables and other receivables included:
HK$39,704,000, HK$14,667,000 and HK$9,731,000  ¥f 70 & 32 & i /& Y BR 50 - i W B 30 1 L b 8 U 5 TR
respectively. T2 RER G RFBETOHRREF B

R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HB EBURER ERKE
RN E b FE U R 2 BREF B 9 B 49 839,704,000
BT 14,667,000 7T &9,731,000/%8 7T °

Management judgment is required in assessing
and determining the recoverability of accounts
receivable, loan receivables and other receivables
and adequacy of allowance made using the
expected credit losses ('ECL") model under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments”.
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We had identified loss allowance for ECL on
accounts receivable, loan receivables and other
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverability of accounts
receivable, loan receivables and other receivables
and recognition of loss allowance are inherently
subjective and requires significant management
judgment, which increases the risk of error or
potential management bias.
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We discussed with management and independent
external valuer engaged by the Group in relation
to the methodology, basis and assumptions used
to see whether the methodology and assumptions
used were reasonable and appropriate;
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We checked the accuracy, appropriateness and
reliance of the input date used; and

TP RE AT A AR ERNE GBS MR SEE
K

We evaluated the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent external
valuer taking into account its experience and
qualifications.

A BL IR EMMEE N R EBIE YEE
BEERKLERK-

We considered the management’s conclusion to be
consistent with the available information.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of user taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charge with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B B A RS

From the matters communicated with those charge with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Wai Nam, William with
Practising Certificate number P0O5957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ceBmEkHMAZEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2022 2021
—EC-CHF —E—F
Notes HK$000 HK$000
g3 FET FHET
Revenue EEEE 5 66,267 63,663
Cost of sales $H 6 B AN (44,437) (36,505)
Gross profit E A 21,830 27,158
Other income and other net gains E AW A R H AU 5 F 5 7 1,183 4,663
(Impairment losses)/reversal of FEHEEEEEXT ClE
impairment loss under expected EE) REEEER -
credit loss model, net R 8 (23,795) 5,689
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEEREEE - (489)
Selling and distribution expenses HE R D HFX (3,968) (6,765)
Administrative expenses ITHREX (38,041) (52,434)
Finance costs B AR AN 9 (183) (201)
Loss before taxation bR BRI ES 1B (42,794) (22,379)
Income tax (expense)/credit et (X)) /H% 10 (49) 249
Loss for the year FAEE (43,023) (22,130)
Other comprehensive income/(expenses): HthZHEWA (X)) :
Item that may be reclassified HETEEHFRIEE
subsequently to profit or loss: B 2EE
Exchange difference on translations BMEBIEBEEZ
of foreign operations PE N =% 441 (2,512)
Reclassification of cumulative HEBINEBREN D
transaction reserve upon disposal B R G E
of foreign operation (1,220) -
Other comprehensive expenses FRHEMEZEMX
for the year, net of income tax R AT 1S3 (779) (2,512)
Total comprehensive expenses FREEMAXERE
for the year (43,802) (24,642)
Loss for the year attributable to: FRELEBRER:
— Owners of the Company N/NECIE= =N (43,023) (22,130)
— Non-controlling interests - JEE R S - -
(43,023) (22,130)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEREREMCEENER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2022 2021
—EB-CfF —E—F
Notes HK$000 HK$000
g3 FET FHET
Total comprehensive expenses FRELEZEMAXREE:
for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company o YNCIES TN (43,802) (24,642)
— Non-controlling interests ~-FEERR R = - -
(43,802) (24,642)
(Restated)
(&E5)
Loss per share (HK cents) sREE (GB)
- Basic -EK 5 (31.77) (18.86)
- Diluted -#E 15 (31.77) (18.86)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BRI R R

As at 31 December 2022 R —FE - —F+_-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E_—F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
H et FET FET
Non-current Assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y ER 3P E 16 1,528 2,401
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 - -
Goodwill S 18 5,161 5,161
Financial assets at fair value BRARBEFABERZ
through profit or loss TREE 19 - 4,250
6,689 11,812
Current Assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value BRARBEFABRZ
through profit or loss TRVEE 19 6,605 26,539
Loan receivables FEWE R 20 9,731 8,913
Accounts and other receivables JFE LK BR 3R % B At B IR IE 21 54,371 69,424
Inventories T8 22 1,828 791
Tax recoverable QR - 45
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEYD 23 31,199 37,160
103,734 142,872
Current Liabilities REBEE
Accounts and other payables JRE A B 3R Ko HL At B {5 R IR 24 7,531 13,294
Bond payable JE <18 55 25 - 6,180
Lease liabilities HERE 30 - 544
Tax liabilities HIEAE 87 -
7,618 20,018
Net Current Assets BERBEE 96,116 122,854
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities RMEERABRE 102,805 134,666
Non-current Liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 - 119
Net Assets FEE 102,805 134,547
Capital and Reserves RA& R &%
Share capital & A 27 5,902 4,784
Reserves s 28 94,874 127,734
Equity attributable to owners of RATIFREE ARIGER
the Company 100,776 132,518
Non-controlling interests eI R 29 2,029 2,029
Total Equity HRAE 102,805 134,547
The consolidated financial statements on page 75 to 171 were $752171 BT8R & B ﬁ%’i#ﬁi% R=%
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on ——F=A=t+—HEEFE Tﬂi/ﬁ&}“*&
31 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: HBWHATATRKESE:
Yang Xingan Wang Tao
HEZ -
Director Director
£ E
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an\ IE@/)ILE%‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERED
Loss before taxation BB AT A 18 (43,023) (22,379)
Adjustments for: A
Bank interest income RITRE A (70) 3)
Depreciation of property, M HERRBITE
plant and equipment 833 589
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE - 720
Financial costs & BAR 183 201
Impairment loss (reversal of) recognised R R EFREBE
on accounts receivables CRER1E#E D) 20,562 (6,926)
(Reversal of)/impairment loss on ERER CREEERED)
loan receivables EER (818) 695
Impairment loss on other receivables H th & W SR IR R 1B B 18 4,051 542
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W (8,762) -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets A ERERE - 489
Fair value changes on financial assets BARBEAANERZZERMEEZ
at fair value through profit or loss ANRIERZED) 3,312 8,797
Realised loss/(gain) on financial assets RAREFAEBR Ziwﬁﬁéz
at fair value through profit or loss DRI EE (W 5,027 (4,052)
Dividend income on financial assets BRAREF AR Zi@ﬂéﬁz
at fair value through profit or loss i B WA (34) (1,403)
Equity settled share based payment A& B e 2 ARG E AR5
expenses for employees BER 2 IREX 1,328 1,277
Operating cash flows before movements LEEEHA o RERENE
in working capital (17,411) (21,453)
Increase in inventories FE M (1,037) (791)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivables FEWBRF (3 Hn) R (35,469) 1,155
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TA T FRIE ~ R T H e W R TE R
other receivables 19,218 2,141
Increase in accounts payables JE A< BR K38 hn 1,076 1,018
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and — HE R 5RIE R EFTABEEMN CRD)
accrued liabilities 5,738 (29,820)
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS REXBRARE (27,885) (47,750)
Income tax paid ERFTEH 132 (3,036)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHRMAZREFH
ACTIVITIES (27,753) (50,786)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

an\ Iﬁlﬁlﬂbi’?—%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

2022 2021
—EB-—F —TE-—4F
Note HK$000 HK$000
b &t FET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Dividend income received from financial BYIZAABTFAERZZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss TREEZREKA 34 1,403
Interest received 2 U F B 70 3
Net proceeds for disposal of subsidiaries & M B2 A5 5K EF 5 33 (65) -
Proceed from disposal of financial assets ~ HEZAMRBETABREZ
at fair value through profit or loss TR EE TS RIE 15,845 42,220
Purchases of financial assets at fair value ~ BEE QLB ABEZ
through profit or loss TREE - (10,212)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment & B ¥73 - #288 R - (1,479)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REEZHFBREFEH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 15,884 31,935
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METH
Interest on lease liabilities paid ENHEEEENE (3) 2mn
Interest paid [ERREIIPSS (360) -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEBEERE 1,058 (836)
Proceed from exercised of share option 1T EFTSRIA 1,482 1,302
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITESEHIE - 6,000
Repayment of bonds BEES (6,000) -
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds 21T A EHTIE KA 9,250 -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METDHFSRSFER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 5,427 6,445
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND REREASEEYRIFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (6,442) (12,406)
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZBREeRBREEED
beginning of year 37,160 52,105
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes MERBE) B 481 (2,539)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERZEHERESEEY
END OF YEAR 31,199 37,160
80 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in
(i) travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines, event
organising services and magazine publication; (ii) provision
of contents and advertising services in a well known
financial magazine distributed in the PRC; (iii) investment
in securities; (iv) virtual reality business; and (v) money
lending business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$'000) unless otherwise indicated.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

82

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

(“HKFRSs”)

(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Framework
Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37
a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs
2018-2020

The application of amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s
financial performance and position for the current
and prior years and/or the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

Reference to the Conceptual

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/_ﬁ

BB WRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) -

Continued

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective:

The Group has not only applied the following new and
amendment to HKFRS, that have been issued but not

effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022

Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023.
to be determined.

January 2024.

RESERE R AR

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

84

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective: - Continued

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

(i) Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures deal with situations
where there is a sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. Specifically, the amendments state that
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in
a transaction with an associate or a joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method,
are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains
and losses resulting from the remeasurement of
investments retained in any former subsidiary (that
has become an associate or a joint venture that
is accounted for using the equity method) to fair
value are recognised in the former parent’s profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an 7JL 7_]'%#&%:2 |§ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. ERAEAMBHREERN (&
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EHUBREER |) 2IE5TAR -
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued =]

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but (b) CHEMEERERZHITE
not yet effective: — Continued BMBREENRERT R -
&

(i) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification (i) &EZFEREH 21

of Liabilities as Current or Non-current FIAR[#HEESIERT

and related amendments to Hong Kong 5?/7 I fyﬁj & &8

Interpretation 5 (2020) BES (—FE_FF)

LIRS ET

The amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

- specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations
to settle the liability within 12 months;
and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the right
exists if the conditions are met at the end
of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later
date; and

- clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) - Continued

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective: - Continued

(if) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) — Continued

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was
revised as a consequence of the Amendments to
HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with
no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as
at 31 December 2022, the application of the
amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group’s liabilities.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HEaMERRZFEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTHE-&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial (@) GRENBHRR2EREE -
statements — Continued ]

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

All amounts are presented in Hong Kong dollar
thousands (“HK$’000”) in these consolidated financial
statements, unless otherwise stated.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. SREMBREZHERELER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTHE-&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial (@) RENBHRRZFEREE -

statements — Continued

A fair value measurement of a non-financial assets takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

—  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

—  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. FEMBBRRZEHREER
FTESFHER-&

(b) REEXE
REMBHRRBEARRR ALK
NEREMBRRMEG 2 B
BB SRR o e B LA TN 1B R A
AN AV ERAS 1 42

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

RABHBERESTEEE
ik

-~ has power over the investee; —

AAFES R E T
BhEELERESTRD
B R

— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from —
its involvement with the investee; and

ARBBENITEEENM
FEHEDR-

- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. —

fMBEEENMBERER LS =ZAE
HEERPHN AN ZIALEE
B AEEBEFFHERTH
WIRE 7 B R lHE -

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

i A X8 1B K B8 A 2 W ek
HE ORBRARBFAE AR
FEERER B QRN @R

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and

to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

3. MEMBBRRZEHREER
E\Eggﬁﬁﬁ_ng

(b) FEEE—&

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(b) Basis of consolidation — Continued

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZREMBHRRZEHNEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESFHER-&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(c) Goodwill (c) BE

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 R-ZFERF—H—HUA
January 2005 WRERTE .2 B &

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of net assets and WERRR -_TETHRF—A—H
operations of another entity for which the acquisition MRS —ERB 2 EEFER

date is before 1 January 2005 represents the excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
relevant acquiree at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January
2001 continues to be held in reserves, and will be
transferred to the retained earnings at the time when
the business to which the goodwill relates is disposed
of or when a cash-generated unit (“CGU”) to which the
goodwill relates becomes impaired.

For previously capitalised goodwill arising on
acquisitions of new assets and operations of another
entity after 1 January 2001, the Group has discontinued
amortisation from 1 January 2005 onwards, and
such goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the CGU unit to
which the goodwill relates may be impaired (see the
accounting policy below).

Goodwill arising on acquisition on or after 1 January
2005 was recognised as an asset and initially measured
at cost, being the excess of the cost of the acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the recognised amounts
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the Group’s
interest in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeded the cost of the acquisition, the excess was
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. &4 ,ﬂ%iﬁ’zizifiégif%&

of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs (or group of
CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU
within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of
the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESHHRER-E&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BBRZFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHHEK-E
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

d) W% HERRE

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes. Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Depreciation is recognised
so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Shorter of remaining

lease term

or 3-5 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment and software 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. B BRZFEHEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHEEX -8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(e) HE

(e) Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BBRZFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHHEK-E
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

(e) HE—-&

(e) Leases — Continued

Definition of a lease — Continued
The Group as a lessee — Continued
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

—  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

— an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

3. REMBBRERZAHUEER
FESHBEX -8B

(e) HE-&

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(e) Leases — Continued

96

Detfinition of a lease — Continued

The Group as a lessee — Continued

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

HER T % &
AEEBEREBA—E
HERE

REERKBEH ~EEZR%A
el AR S A G A R IR E R AR
AAEHERE-EFEHENK
MRER HEEFMEZ O
EASEE MAKEERARE
HEF A B R IEEERF X

REMRERE BENK(BE
B E 5 A ) AT R
s -

RFE B R RIBEEFE R
HEMNREHERBEFELFHE-

AEBRUTEREHGFERE
BRE(EAEMEREEENFNE
fEHE)

— the lease term has changed or there is a change in - THHBENEEITEEERE
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in WA BEE RIEBERT

which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

— the lease payments change due to changes
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. FEMBBRRZEHREER
FTESFHER-&

) ME EERRBUK LA

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(f) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

and right-of-use assets other than goodwill BEE (BERM) EE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews REERR REERFEDE -
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and R RRBARERAEEENR

equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset
belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired.
If such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

3. MEMBBRERZEHREER
E\Eggﬁﬁ%_ng

) MR EERREUREA

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(f) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

and right-of-use assets other than goodwill -
Continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGU, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HEaMERRZFEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTHE-&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(g) Financial instruments

(g £MTA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for account receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZREMERRZFEHEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESHHRE-E
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued (g EMIT A&

Financial assets THEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREE DENMHEERE
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

e TR EmMEERLRE

subsequently measured at amortised cost: BIHKAGTE

— the financial asset is held within a business model - ZREEDUEHNR/KIE
whose objective is to collect contractual cash WETRENEKEEAF
flows; and 5 &

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates - ARNBRFRNEERHELD

Ren8MRrniNEreRk
REBXZHONE -

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

PrEHEtbEmMEERRIRANE
AFABHEEFTE A TIERMAR
TREENDEABIELE:

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL. A financial asset is held for sales if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of - BAZEOFEZARIOHL
selling in the near term; or -

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

- RSP HIABBRANEEE
BEEZC#NE TAA
BZz—®Moy YBRKRELABHA
RHERN 2 BRELN K

- itis a derivative that is not designated and effective - BYWIHEETREBRERE D
as a hedging instrument. TAZ{TETA-

Itk SN+ 7 5 [ AT S A 8 A 2R
REBHERATEZEREERT

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing READEFABZETE (Wt
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting BRI BEEZR D GTHRACE
mismatch. S e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

3. &8

assets — Continued
(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other
income and other net gains” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. && ,ﬂ%iﬁ’zizifiégif%&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHEEX -8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(g EWMIE—&

(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including accounts and other receivables, loan
receivables, and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at the end of each reporting period to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
end of the reporting period as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivables without significant financing component.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances and credit-impaired
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Company measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

3. FEMBBRRZEHREER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 — Continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

FTESFHER-&

@ SWMIE—&
PREE-—F

REFEEMBRELERFIRA

TR E R f A S B E AR (E —

(i) 155 =B AIEE

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the end of the reporting
period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition.

In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

(@) an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

(b) significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

(c) existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

(d) an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; or

(e) an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets — Continued
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 — Continued

(i) Significant increase in credit risk — Continued
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default
The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 — Continued

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade and
bills receivables using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF
3. REMBBRERZAHUEER
FTEETHRE-&

@ SWMIE—&
PHEE—E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

106

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 — Continued

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL — Continued

Lifetime ECL for certain accounts receivable
are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

—  Past-due status;

—  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

—  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of accounts receivable, loan receivables and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BBRZFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHBRE-E&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

@)ﬁﬂlﬂ—ﬁ

(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or other
financial assets or the Group has the sole discretion
to defer payment of distribution and redemption of
principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(g)

(h)

108

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial liabilities and equity — Continued
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts payables,
accruals and other payables, bond payable and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same. Control is transferred
over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BBRZFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHHEK-E
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

(h) EFEH k=&

(h) Revenue from contracts with customers -

Continued

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent). The Group is a
principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.
The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF
3. GANBEEZ ERELR
TESHBR-&

(i) EEEA
(i) *2HEjEE 15

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
(i) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benetfits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

(ii) Retirement benefit obligations

The Group contributes to a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
relevant income and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contribution
to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to
the MPF Scheme vest immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HEaMERRZFEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTHE-&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(i) Employee benefits — Continued
(ii) Retirement benefit obligations — Continued

(i) BEERAN-&
(i) BRIKEFIEF—4E

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries
which operate in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed in the central pension scheme
The Group has no forfeiture of pension scheme
contributions (i.e. Contributions processed by
the employer on behalf of the employee who
has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such
contributions). As at 31 December 2022, no
forfeited contribution under the pension scheme of
the Group is available for deduction of contribution
payable in coming years.

(iii) Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. && ,ﬂ%iﬁ%zifiégif%&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHEEX -8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(i) EE?E%IJ—%

(i) Employee benefits — Continued
(iii) Equity-settled share-based payment (iif) B A 78 B LA R (7 45 E R

transactions — Continued

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will
be retained in the share options reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HEaMERRZFEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTHE-&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(j) Taxation () BiE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. && ,ﬂ%iﬁ’zizifiégif%&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTESHEEX -8
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

) BE-&

(j) Taxation — Continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

()

(k)

)

Taxation — Continued

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable
that the relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain
tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either
the most likely amount or the expected value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits and (b) cash equivalents, which comprises of
short-term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BtZ —FE - —F+=-H=+—HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(m) Provisions

116

(n)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(n)

(0)

(p)

Foreign currencies — Continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income and other net gains”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. MBI ZFEHEHEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TESTHE-&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(q) Contingent liabilities (q RAEE

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are
not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
The Group assesses continually the development of
contingent assets. If it has become virtually certain
that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the
Group recognizes the asset and the related income in
the consolidated financial statements in the reporting
period in which the change occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, expect in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

(r) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - Continued

Estimated impairment of goodwill and goodwill
reserve

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill
has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in
use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGU (or a group of
CGUs) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows
or upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment
loss or further impairment loss may arise. Furthermore, the
estimated cash flows and discount rate are subject to higher
degree of estimation uncertainties in the current year due to
uncertainty on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress
and evolve and volatility in financial markets, including
potential disruptions of the Group’s operations.

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables, and other receivables

Accounts receivable with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables, and
other receivables which are not assessed individually using
a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging
of debtors/others as groupings of various debtors taking
into consideration the Group’s historical default rates
and forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by the
Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has increased the expected
loss rates in the current year as there is higher risk that a
prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit default
rates.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,.\/T\ 7JL 7_]&#&43,% |§ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE 5. BXEH
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEBEWEXBONWT
2022 2021
—_E=-= —E-—1F
HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers: FFAHWE:
Travel media TR 2% 1 58 14,941 14,964
Financial magazine and other media PR R E A
services HE R 46,900 45,810
Virtual reality ERRE 3,326 1,789
65,167 62,563
Revenue from other sources: Ht iRz
Interest income M EHA 1,100 1,100
66,267 63,663
Timing of revenue recognition: W R
A point in time MR E 65,167 62,563

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Revenue from travel media

Revenue from travel media includes income from
management fees, registration and exhibitor fees on various
events and conferences organised by the Group. The
revenue was recognised upon completion of the events
and conferences. Income from the provision of services
is recognised upon the provision of the relevant services
rendered and a full payment received in advance is normally
required before the services rendered which is classified
as contract liabilities and the remaining performance
obligations are expected to recognised as revenue within a
year.

Revenue from financial magazine and other media
services

Revenue from service fee income from the provision of
contents and advertising services in multiple well-known
financial magazine was distributed in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) and other media services. Income from
the provision of services is recognised upon the provision of
the relevant services rendered.

Revenue from virtual reality business

Income from the provision of services and sales of good
is recognised at a point in time upon the provision of the
relevant services rendered and when control of the goods
has been transferred, being the goods have been delivered
to the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BtZ —FE - —F+=-H=+—HIFZE

REVENUE - Continued

Revenue from other source

Interest income arising from money-lending
business

Loan interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group determines its operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the executive directors, the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM”), that are used to make
strategic decisions.

The Group has five reportable segments. The segments
are managed separately as each business offers different
products and services and requires different business
strategies. The following summary describes the operations
in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

(i) Travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines,
event organising services and magazine publication
(“Travel Media Business”);

(ii) Provision of contents and advertising services in a well-
known financial magazines distributed in the PRC
(“Financial Magazine and Other Media Business”);

(iii) Investment in securities (“Securities Investment”);

(iv) Virtual reality business (the “Virtual Reality”); and

(v) Money lending business (“Money Lending”).

Corporate revenue and expenses are not allocated to the

operating segments as they are not included in the measure

of the segments’ results that is used by the CODM for
assessment of segment performance.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s CODM
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current assets
with the exception of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, cash and bank balances and other corporate
assets. Segment liabilities include all liabilities managed
directly by the segments other than tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
without allocation of corporate administrative expenses,
corporate directors’ emoluments, corporate interest income
and income tax expense. Segment results include all
revenue and expenses, other than reporting inter-segment
provided by one segment to another, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #/ 2 =

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued

124

(@) Segment revenues and results

= — —

=

FroA=+—AIFE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results from continuing operations by reportable

segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. RESH—&

(@ THERBERER

AEEXEFERLS
KEBRAIREDED

EY Yl
DHTAR T

BE-Z2-_—#+=-A=+—-8H

EFE
Financial
Magazine and
Travel Media ~ Other Media Securities Money Virtual
Business Business Investment Lending Reality Total
BEEER
RERBEE HUSREY #5RE B ERAE @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET TET TET FET TET TET
Reportable segment revenue 3 E haEPZ
from external customers ARENBERE 14,941 46,900 - 1,100 3,326 66,267
Reportable segment losses RENDER (8,081) (15,403) - (1,456) (1,504) (26,444)
Amounts included in the measure 3t ADHBEZE EH
of segment profit or loss: REGHE:
Depreciation E - - (10) (466) (357) (833)
Impairment losses on YRR
accounts receivables HEBE - (20,562) - - - (20,562)
Impairment loss on other EMENFEL
receivables REER - - (820) - (3,231) (4,051)
Reversal of impairment losses ERERZ AERR
on loan receivables &l - - - 818 - 818
Reportable segment assets ARENHEE - 48,721 15,293 12,865 15,347 92,226
Reportable segment liabilities IRENHER - (3,962) - (1,437) (527) (5,926)
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

S D W~
(@ THEXRBERRE-&
BE-B--F+-A=+-8

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6.
(@) Segment revenues and results — Continued
For the year ended 31 December 2021

I E
Financial
Magazine and
Travel Media ~ Other Media Securities Money Virtual
Business Business Investment Lending Reality Total
@ﬁi«‘
REEEER ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%% BHRE M ERRE &t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
Reportable segment revenue RENBEFZ
from external customers AREDHEER 14,964 45,810 - 1,100 1,789 63,663
Reportable segment profit/(loss) A& 55
#wH/ (B8R) 2,530 7,256 9,062 (685) (10,127) 8,036
Amounts included in the measure  FADBEZ ER
of segment profit or loss: REGH:
Depreciation e - (720) - (116) (473) (1,309)
Reversal of impairment losses on ~ EWIRH 2 AEFE
accounts receivables B - 6,926 - - - 6,926
Impairment loss on other o RITEZ
receivables HEEE - 4 - - (546) (542)
Impairment losses on loan ERERZ
receivables HEEE - - - (695) - (695)
Impairment losses on right-of-use ~ FHEEEY
assets HEEE (489) - - - - (489)
Reportable segment assets ARENDEE 36,411 46,203 29,475 11,434 17,879 141,402
Additions to non-current assets: ~ FERENEEEN:
~ Property, plant and equipment -5 - 8 RikfE - - - - 1,479 1,479
Reportable segment liabilities ARENHDAE (3,745) (4,384) (52) (1,001) (896) (10,078)
FEERRRIERBRLT T FF®R 125



BRI

TE - —FF A=+ —HIFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 2

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6. RED W&
(b) Reconciliation of segment profit or loss, assets (b) oHEGE BEEREEZY
and liabilities: R :
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue EXE
Reportable segment revenue ARG DX 66,267 63,663
Profit or loss Bi
Reportable segment (losses)/profit AIIRE DS (EE) FEF (26,444) 8,389
Unallocated corporate income Ao EEERA 5,261 8,142
Unallocated corporate expenses Ao ERX (21,611) (38,910)
Consolidated losses before taxation BRBEASREEE (42,794) (22,379)
Assets BE
Segment assets D EE E 92,226 141,402
Unallocated corporate assets AOREEEE 18,197 13,282
Consolidated assets RAEBE 110,423 154,684
Liabilities afE
Segment liabilities DEFBE 5,926 10,078
Unallocated corporate liabilities AoREEEE 1,692 10,059
Consolidated liabilities reEAaE 7,618 20,137
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued
(c) Geographic information
The Group’s operations and workforce are mainly
located in Singapore and Hong Kong. Information about
the Group’s revenue from continuing operations from
external customers is presented based on the location
of the operations. Information about the Group’s non-
current assets is presented based on the geographical
location of the asset. The following table provides
an analysis of the Group’s revenue from external

6.

777 UYL ==
REDH— &

(c) HEEF

AREBE 2 EBRETEEMRNH
g REE-BEARNERREBIN
MEFZFELEEBKEN
BEIDRBELEHE 2] B
AEFEFERHEEZERIRE
BEZHMBUEEY - TR
AEEREINBPRFZEXTBD
o

customers.
Year ended 31 December

BE+t-—HA=1+—BLEE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF
HK$000 HK$’000
FET FET
Singapore % 14,941 14,964
Hong Kong £ 48,000 46,910
PRC H 3,326 1,789
66,267 63,663

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
non-current assets.

TRENAEEFERBEEZ D
A7 o

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—-HLFE

2022 2021
B —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FAET

Hong Kong e 6,020 10,747
PRC ellE 669 1,065
6,689 11,812

(d) Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue
attributable to the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 6% (2021: 24%) of the Group’s total revenue
and aggregate revenue attributable to the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for 29% (2021:

52%) of the Group'’s total revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6.
(d) Information about major customers —

Continued

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group

are as follows:

s
(d)

0 EB —

FTEFFZER-

MAEEREXERI0%HNES
REERFERBMEXBENT:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1T—-HLEE

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

Customer A — Financial magazine and &7 7 — &35

other media business (note) H B8 (M) - 15,610

note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over Mt EBONEREEREIREAEHE
10% of the total revenue of the Group. HEXEBENI0% °
7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS 7. E AU R H U 5 AR
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—BHLFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—fF
HK$000 HK$’000
FET FET
Bank interest income RITH B U A - 3
Interest income from fixed deposit E 87 B2 FLE A 70 -
Dividend income from financial assets BARBEFABRZ
at FVTPL TRIEEZREWA 34 1,403
Other income H Al A 656 416
Government grant (note) BT BB (A7 at) - 7,586
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) &N B QR Z W
(K15t33) 8,762 -
Realised (loss)/gain on financial assets BARBETAB®Z
at FVTPL TRMEEZEENR
(EEHTE W E (5,027) 4,052
Fair value changes on financial assets BRAREFABRZ
at FVTPL PREEZANEED (3,312) (8,797)
1,183 4,663
note: Kt -

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised
government grant of approximately HK$7,586,000 in respect of
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Government. There

was no unfulfilled conditions.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

RBEE-_T-_—F+_A=+—HIH
B AEERREBRNRREETSEHD
B %6 BN 497,586,000 7T © 8 £ 4 32 AX 15

o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

8. EHEEBEEXTRERS
B HIREE
Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1T—-HLHFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
Impairment losses (recognised)/reversal on: A N &IE 2 (B HRME
B) RERERD:
— Accounts receivable — W BR =K (20,562) 6,926
— Loan receivables —EWE = 818 (695)
— Other receivables — E b fE W SR TE (4,051) (542)
(23,795) 5,689
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERA
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—BLEE
2022 2021
B —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Interest on bond payable N ERHZH & 180 180
Interest on lease liabilities HERGBZHE 3 21
183 201
10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT 10. FIBH (BAX) HE&

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET

Current tax: BUERT IR -
— Hong Kong —&B (49) -
— Singapore — ¥ K - -
Tax overprovision (Note) MIRRRR R (M i) - 249
Deferred tax EIE T IR - -
Income tax (expense)/credit PTis®i (%) /H% (49) 249

PEERRBERARLT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BtZ —FE - —F+=-H=+—HIFZE

10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT - Continued 10. Fi8% (Bi%x) R —&

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong BREEBNGEHMAG aERBE

Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying = & % 4 52,000,000 7T 4 A 4% 12
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 8.25% it R &7 - 48 482,000,0007 7T
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities B H R RI6.5% B - TFE
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will METHMAHERNEEE LB G

2022 2021
—B-CfF T —F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Loss before taxation K 75 B B 18 (42,974) (22,379)
Tax at statutory tax rate of 16.5% REEHE16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) —E-F:16.5%)
qu 2 BHIA (7,091) (3,794)
Tax effect of income not taxable BEARBMBRAZRBEZE (845) (2,055)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR A X 2 B8 7,849 5,849
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERTIRE R ERE 2
differences not recognised MG R & - -
Tax overprovision in prior year BEFERIABREESE - 249
Tax effect of different tax rates of REMAEEREEZ
subsidiaries operating in other MEARTRBE
jurisdictions Mg & 38 -
Income tax (expense)/credit s () /#E% 49) 249
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continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity
is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

The calculation of current tax of the Group’s subsidiaries in
Singapore is based on a prevailing corporate tax rate of 17%
(2021: 17%).

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The income tax (expense)/credit for the year can be
reconciled to loss before taxation per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

BHEER16.5% 2K —MEHH-A
I AEREREEBNEBHGRIZ
HET FE R 0% F B 2,000,0007% 7T A9
8.25% =T & + M i #82,000,000/% 7T AY
HETERB R AIR16.5% 5 & o

AEBRF MR ZHEBLQ
MIATIRIBEIRIT R AR
:—ZE'E 170/0>D 7%0

al /) B 5
7% (= F

BREFECEMSHE([RERSE
BOED) REEMSETOEE RGO -
FEMBEARRMEFEZHRESR
25% -

AFEZREHR(AX) /e EEEg
BRmLEMEEEERMIIREA
BREHRMT

as follows:

Year ended 31 December
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

11.LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

11. FRAEIE
FNBEOHNG () THEE:

(a) Staff costs (@ BIKAE

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+—-BLEE

2022 2021
—Z2=-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIRA (B
remuneration): BEEME)
— Salaries, allowances and —Fe FEUMEEDI S
benefits in kind 20,208 16,219
— Contributions to defined —REHRTEKRE
contribution pension plans FHEIHER 1,282 1,153
— Equity-settled share-based —RAEEBEHZRAER
payment expenses for employee ARt AR B i 2
b 1,191 1,277
22,681 18,649
(b) Other items (b) HMIEB
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2022 2021
—Z:=-= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN & 410 410
Depreciation of property, ME - HBELREBITE
plant and equipment 833 589
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEENE - 720
Cost of inventories sold EERFERA 302 569
Expenses to short-term lease EHTHEEEA X 717 683
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) iE g E (M) F 5 3,978 (56)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 - FE - —4#F+=-H=+—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS 12. E5%H M
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RIEGEM LR A M FE (R A F
to the GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies By ME - FREEZFHMREDT -
Ordinance, is as follows:
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to defined
and benefits ~ Share based Directors  contribution
in kind payment fee  pension plans Total
ﬁ“;E{/\TA
e 2ER LU 2 2 RAKEHE
ENRE ERZAR Exhe 3 st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FET
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-B-=%
+=RA=t-H
LLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Yang Xingan BRZEE - - 240 - 240
Mr. Wang Tao TEEE - 137 120 - 257
- 137 360 - 497
Independent non-executive directors B H#HTEF
Mr. Wang Qingling FERRL - - 120 - 120
Mr. Yang Shuyan BRERL - - 120 - 120
Mr. Lee Yim Wah FRELT - - 120 - 120
- - 360 - 360
- 137 720 - 857
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-2=--%
+=A=t-H
LFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Chow Chi Wa (Resigned BEELE
on 19 November 2021) (RZZ=—-F%
T-ATNARE) 1,392 - 110 165 1,667
Mr. Yang Xingan BRZEE - - 240 - 240
Mr. Wang Tao TELE - - 120 - 120
1,392 - 470 165 2,027
Independent non-executive directors B £ 7TEE
Mr. Wang Qingling FERLL - - 120 - 120
Mr. Yang Shuyan BB L - - 120 - 120
Mr. Lee Yim Wah FHELL - - 120 - 120
- - 360 - 360
1,392 - 830 165 2,387
During both years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, HE_ZT__FR_ZF_—F+_H
no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors, =t—HBIEmEFE AEEHER
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as EEXNMESER/MAREE LR
compensation for loss of office. A&z RN AE BB (E
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS - Continued

There was no arrangement under which a director or chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 46,298,000 of
share options of the Company was granted to the directors
in respect of their services provided to the Group under a
share option scheme of the Company (2021: Nil).

The executive directors’” emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

12.

%%iﬁm nﬁ
FANBMEERESTIESTHRAER
MEXRBRETAM SN T HE -

HE-_Z-_—_F#+-_A=+—H1
FE REAQARERETERES
MASEREZREABBEESEE
46,298,000 A 2 B BE AR 4 (=
T—F|E)o

EXHRTRBTESZME IR EEE
BARRBRANEEEHAIEMGRZ RS
M ft e

EXFRBYIRATESTZMETI5
BEEECARRESFMRE/RZRHM
Ao

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES B.AEBREFNES
The five highest paid employees of the Group included one FRN - AEBLEE=SFMMEES 21E
(2021: one) director for the year, whose remunerations are — % (ZEZ—F:—R)EF EH
included in note 12 above. Details of the remuneration for B E A EXCFFE12 e FRER TR (=
the year remaining four (2021: four) highest paid employees To—F NB)REFMES (LI
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the RARBEEXEZSITHAE) B H B
Company are set out below: AT
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—BHLEE
2022 2021
—E__ B4
HK$7000 HK$000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  ¥% 2B R EWMHZ 1,620 4,209
Contributions to defined contribution AEHRFEERAKRSEEIHER
pension plans 69 270
1,689 4,479
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES — Continued 13. 28BS HMES —&

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the FARBEENESHMESHHN
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within FIATEHRENABDAT -

the following bands is as follows:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—1F
Number of Number of
employees employees

EEAH BE A

NIL to HK$1,000,000 Z B ILE1,000,000% 7T 4 4

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L ZE1,500,0007% 7T - -
4 4

During both years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no BHE_ZT_—_FRk_T_—F+_H

remuneration were paid by the Group to the five highest =T —RIEMEFE AEELHER

paid employees, as an inducement to join or upon joining IEESFMEEXNMESIER/MA

the Group as compensation for loss of office. REBERMAEZ REN S AERBER

&

The remuneration of one (2021: one) senior management —H(ZBEZ—F —R)aREBEA

personnel has been disclosed in the above table of the five B2 HME RN EXEBO R RS

highest paid employees. BEZRIBAWE -

14. DIVIDENDS 14. & 2
The board of directors does not recommend payment of any EEERRAITTREBE_T_—
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). TZA=Z+T—RILEFEMNERRKRE (=

T —FE) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

15.LOSS PER SHARE 15. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share KARERAEBEBRERREFE
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BIRBIATEURG R

following data:

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1+T—-HLHFE

2022 2021
—g-=%F —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Loss per share BREE
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share ARG ESREKREEZ
#ig (43,023) (22,130)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BfE# &L @M T L
Adjustment for share option B IR F B - -
Loss for the purpose of diluted loss per share ARG ESREFEEZ
&5 18 (43,023) (22,130)

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1+T—-HLHFE

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
‘000 ‘000
FiKR TR
(restated)
(&=7)
Number of share RO E
Weighted average number of ordinary AR EEREREEZ
shares in issue for the purpose of BT EBRINE T 58
basis loss per share 135,413 117,348
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: & fE# 58 XML 2
— Share option - ME A A - -
Weighted average number of ordinary AR ESREEER
shares in issue for the purpose of BT EBRINE T 58
diluted loss per share 135,413 117,348
There were 19,290,900 of outstanding share options as at R-ZB__F+_RA=+—H &K
31 December 2022 (2021 (restated): 12,539,150). 1716 #9 BB 4% /519,290,900 (= F

—&FE (LE5) :12,539,1501D ) ©

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume EEREBEEERYERRANAE
the exercise of Company’s options because the exercise Hx%?%ﬂ@ JitTﬁEEEQEZ%%Hﬁ%E']
price of those options was higher than the average market TEERR-T_FR-_FT_—F
price for shares for both 2022 and 2021. e THAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - S R X 1E
Computer
Leasehold Furniture Office equipment Motor
improvement and fixture equipment  and software vehicles Total
ERRE
HENEEE BRR%E BWAERME RE&# AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
Cost B
At 1 January 2021 k=ZZE=-%—-A—-H 113 566 2,052 1,367 809 4,907
Additions NE - - 5 1,474 - 1,479
Exchange realignment EREE (1) - 9 (45) - (37)
At31 December 2021 and  RZZEZ—45+ZA=+—H
1 January 2022 E-Z--%—-A—H 112 566 2,066 2,796 809 6,349
Additions NE - - - - - -
Written off/Disposal e/ e - - - - - -
Exchange realignment B3R - M (73) 8 - (66)
As at 31 December 2022 R=ZB-Zf+-A=t-H 112 565 1,993 2,804 809 6,283
Accumulated depreciation R HTE
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—%—-f—H 113 462 657 1,347 809 3,388
Charge for the year FRX M - 92 345 152 - 589
Exchange realignment B3R (1) - 18 (46) - (29
At31 December 2021 and ~ R=F=—F+ZA=+—H
at 1 January 2022 RZZE-_—_F—H—H 112 554 1,020 1,453 809 3,948
Charge for the year FRXH - 9 346 478 - 833
Exchange realignment I 5 3% - - (33) 7 - (26)
At 31 December 2022 R=FB=-%+-A=+-AH 112 563 1,333 1,938 809 4,755
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--f+-A=+-H - 2 660 866 - 1,528
Asat 31 December 2021~ RZE-—%+-A=+—H - 12 1,046 1,343 - 2,401
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

RESERE R AR

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17.EAEEE
Leased Office
properties equipment Total
HEWHE N st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FETT FET FET
Cost: oA
At 1 January 2021 R-_E-_—F—AF—H 1,358 349 1,707
Addition =Dl 509 - 509
Exchange realignment PE 3% 17 (4) 13
At 31 December 2021 and W-_E-—F+-A=+—H
1 January 2022 —E--F—H—H 1,884 345 2,229
Disposal of subsidiaries HENE QA (1,884) (345) (2,229)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZHA=+—H - - -
Accumulated depreciation REFTITE
At 1 January 2021 R-_FE_—F—H—H 679 349 1,028
Depreciation charge FEER 720 - 720
Impairment IR 489 - 489
Exchange realignment DE 5, 5 B (4) (4) (8)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZEZ—F+-HA=+—H
1 January 2022 BR-E-—F—A—8 1,884 345 2,229
Disposal of subsidiaries HENE QA (1,884) (345) (2,229)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZ=ZF+=-AR=+—H - - -
Carrying values ARMEE
At 31 December 2022 R-EBE-_Z—_H+=-HA=+—H - - -
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-HA=+—H - - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS — Continued

Expenses relating to short-term leases
Additions of right-of-use assets
Total cash flow for leases

RHHEREEN
& Pt & B N
ARHEEZRE RERE

17.

FREEE-&
Year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=+—HLEE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$ HK$
Er BT
717 683
- 509
717 1,519

For both years, the Group leases various offices and office
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 year (2021: 2 to 3 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

18. GOODWILL

Financial Magazine and Other Media Business
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the CGU that is expected to benefit from

that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwiill
of approximately HK$5,161,000 as at 31 December 2022

18.

mﬁm¢r'$E@ﬁ§%M%“*
&%@&ﬁ%%@%%% FHE

Ww$<_?_—¢21ﬁﬂm
lm%@ﬂi,mfﬁﬁ&M%%E
EE TR eSEIRIGERZIEME-
B 78 T T HA R BT 1 1) RS B PR B
AEBERAHONTETLETALA
BMAITH EAPR o

=

MREARHMERER
REBEHKBZHEIRKERS
MEBHERZEFEHPTE LR
CELEN - BER-_ZE-_—_F+=
A=+ —H®MERBEELS5,161,000%

(2021: HK$5,161,000) was related to Financial Magazine T (ZZTEZ—%:5,161,000/ ) H
and Other Media Business, as further explained below. MRS R EMERBEBERE F15
SR o
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—1F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
Cost A
At the beginning of year F 1 5,161 5,161
Accumulated impairment losses REREBRE - -
Net book value at the end of year FRIEEFE 5,161 5,161
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

18. GOODWILL - Continued

Financial Magazine and Other Media Business —
Continued

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, goodwill of
approximately HK$5,161,000 was arising from the
acquisition of Able Professional Enterprises Limited and its
subsidiary (the “Able Group”) in 2016. At each reporting
date, goodwill is subject to impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU in relation to the
Financial Magazine and Other Media Business has been
determined using cash flow projections to calculate value
in use based on estimates and financial budgets approved
by the Directors of the Company. These projections cover a
five-year period, and have been discounted using a discount
rate of 12.50% (2021: 13.24%). Cash flow beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using growth rates of 3% (2021:
3%).

All of the assumptions and estimations involved in the
preparation of the cash flow projection including budgeted
gross margin, discount rate and growth rate which were
determined by the directors of the Company based on their
experience and expectation for future market development.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
directors of the Company determines that there is no
impairment on a the Able group.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of Able Group. Directors of the Company believes
that any reasonably possible charge in any of these
assumptions would not result in impairment.

RESERE R AR

18 %ﬁ nﬁ

MEMTREMEBEE &

RZBE-_—_FR-_FB-—F+=-A1
=+—H BELS5161,0008TKE
RZZE—NF U EE Able Professional
Enterprises Limited & E I & 2 7]
(TAble B ) -AEFEBH BE
HEITRE G-

B KM R E MR %f’kmfﬁi
EABMNMAIKOSHEEREAD

%%Fﬂtt/&szr&élmﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁIﬁ
CREBRASEFHAEBEEE %F
FEASRE R FHE  WEFH12.50%
—E - — 1 :13.24% ) 2 B3R KR BL
R-BARATFHREMNRESREFEAI%
(- —F 3% )NIERREZ -

RERSRERMS R ABRE
et (BRBEEEMNX BN K KL
EX)DHARREZREELR M
BARRTGERZBHMEE -

BE_ S - -_F-_—F+=
AZ+—BULEFE ARREEET
Able & B I £ 5 & -

A EEEESNAble EENRE

B ARAEFAE REBRANDE
A B BB ST @S O -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

PROFIT OR LOSS

19. %’Aﬁﬁﬁkﬁéiﬁﬁﬂﬁ

2022 2021
—EBE-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Financial assets mandatorily REIE R R EF AR
measured at FVTPL: AECZEMEE:
Listed securities held for trading: FIEEE LTES:
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REE LT ZRAES 5,180 26,539
Unlisted securities, at fair value FELETESF B ARBEYE
— Equity interests in private equity funds - RAEREES
(“P-funds”) (MLEEE]) 2 1,425 4,250
6,605 30,789
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MRBmEBNSFAT :
Current assets MEEE 6,605 26,539
Non-current assets FERFEE - 4,250
6,605 30,789

FEEELTESFPBSRY RHA
AREEERIRNREHR T —@EAR
HEABTRMEE-

The listed securities held for trading are classified as current
as the management expects to realise these financial assets
with twelve months after the reporting period.

MWEESA TS -__FNAEKIRE
MR RBEBHARKRTH R
E-__F+-_A=1+—H ENEA
me-BER_E-=F=A+tH=E

The P-fund commenced dissolution procedures since
September 2022, which was not yet completed within the
reporting period. As at 31 December 2022, it is classified as
current. The dissolution was completed on 17 March 2023.

X R AR
The details of fair value measurement are set out in note NAEFTEZFBERHNMFE35 b))
35(b)(iv).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES 20. ERE R
The Group’s loan receivables arose from the money lending FRNAEBEZEBEFRRERESE
business during the year. e
Loan receivables bear interest at fixed rates, and with ERERZEEHNEGE ZEHH
credit periods, mutually agreed between the contracting R KA E - BRI E SR EEA -
parties. Loan receivables are unsecured. Overdue balances BHER (NMA)BSREEEEH
are reviewed regularly and handled closely by senior T ET M E U IR BRI o

management, if any.

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Fixed rate loan receivables REEMEFTBZERER 11,000 11,000
11,000 11,000
Less: Allowance of credit losses B EEEERE (1,269) (2,087)
9,731 8,913

Analysed as: DWMAT
Current assets MEEE 9,731 8,913

PEERRBERARLT —EoFFR 14
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BtZ —FE - —F+=-H=+—HIFZE

LOAN RECEIVABLES - Continued

The loan receivables, net of allowance, at the end of the
reporting period are analysed by the remaining period to
contractual maturity date as follows:

20. BRE R — &

RI|EBR BUER (AREE)Z
BHEMAR 2RO -

2022 2021

B —E-—F

HK$7000 HK$’000

FET FEIT

Within 3 months =@ARA - -
3 months to 1 year =@EAE—%F 9,731 8,913
9,731 8,913

The average effective interest rate was at 10% per year as at
31 December 2021 (2021: 10%).

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as
at 31 December 2022 is accumulated impairment losses
of HK$1,269,000 (2021: HK$2,087,000). Details of
impairment assessment are set out in note 35(b)(ii).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period is the carrying amount of the loan
receivables. The Group seeks to maintain tight control
over its loan receivables in order to minimise credit risk by
reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions.

All loan receivables are dominated in HKS$.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

W—ZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H" ¥
HEBRFMEARI0% (T Z—F:
10% ) °

WR—_E-_—_F+=-_A=+—8"
EURER2EEERERFTRE
B 181,269,000 T (= —F:
2,087,000/ 7T) o BEFH 2 FIBEH
R EE35(b)(i) °

RBEPRNEREERRAEKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

21. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. B AR R H fih FE WK 18

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Accounts receivable JFE Uk BR 3% 83,034 53,496
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBBERE (43,330) (22,909)
39,704 30,587
Prepayments TR RRIA 178 1,193
Deposits and other receivables e N E A E W ERIE 18,575 38,237
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (4,086) (593)
14,667 38,837

Total accounts and other receivables JFE Uk BR 3R B E b JE Uk R
PR 54,371 69,424

As at 1 January 2021, accounts receivable from contracts
with customers amounted to HK$24,216,000.

The general credit period ranged from 30 days to 90 days,
extending up to 180 days for major customers.

The following is an aging analysis of accounts receivable,
net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the
invoice date:

RZZE-_—F—HA—H kKEEFA
#)2 FEUWER T 524,216,000 7T ©

—REEHNTF302908  HHEHFTE
BPBAIEEH%180H o

REZHZAHM2INE MR EEREER
B EMR R Z R DT T

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$000 HK$’000

FHETT FET

Within 90 days 90H A 11,971 11,106
91-120 days 91-120H 9,566 7,722
121-180 days 121-180H 4,225 6,151
Over 180 days and within 360 days #8180 H E TR E360H 3,227 5,608
Over 360 days HBi#®360H 10,715 -
39,704 30,587

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s
accounts receivable balance were debtors with aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$11,971,000 (2021:
HK$11,370,000) which were neither past due nor impaired.

Out of the past due balances, HK$27,733,000 (2021:
HK$19,217,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default.

RESERE R AR

R—ZZTEZ=—_F+=_A=+—8"
AEB 2RERKERGEH T REE
#911,971,0008 L (=& = —F:
11,370,000/ 7T ) 2 & U BR 7k oK %60 HA
IR A o

® ?ﬁﬂ;ﬁﬁ%gﬂtﬂ 27,733,000 7T (=

T -~ —4:19,217,000 7T ) 2 % A
90EI AL BWRIERBELD -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES -
Continued

Included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables
was approximately HK$97,000 (2021: 4,314,000) of security
accounts as at 31 December 2022.

Details of impairment assessment of accounts and other
receivables are set out in note 35(b)(ii).

21.

JE Ui BR X 2 HL th FE U TR 18 —
IIE

R—ZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 1%
¢ BENFREBEREMEKRESR
RFE L H97,0008 L (= —F:
4,314,000 7T ) °

JiE U B 3k & HL b e W BB 2 R E RT G
FIB KT EE35(b) (i) °

INVENTORIES 22. 78

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Finished goods LR an 1,200 600
Consumable tools FEMIA 628 191
1,828 791

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23.BERFAESEEY

Cash and cash equivalents include short term deposits
for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash
commitments, which carry interest at market rates which
range from 0.001% to 0.5% (2021: 0.001% to 0.5%).

As at 31 December 2022, bank balances and cash
amounting to approximately HK$17,000, Nil and
HK$376,000 (2021: HK$5,673,000, HK$6,466,600 and
HK$859,000) were denominated in United States dollars
(“US$"), Singapore dollars (“SGD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”),
respectively.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set
out in note 35(b)(ii).

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

RekReEEMREREASEER
HRSAENEBRER EMEH X
e FMENF0.001% & 0.5% (=
T —4:0.001% £0.5%) °

RZE-_—_F+-_A=Z+—H &
THHEBESHE17,0008T TR
376,000 (ZZE=—%:5,673,000
B JIT 6,466,600/ 7T X859,000%
TC) A RIAZETT FIE TR AR
BRERS

B BB IR1T 48 R R (B RY 1 1O S 1T SR Y
FE35(b)(ii) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

24. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. FEAY BR AR H fth B A4 K
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHETT FET
Accounts payable (Note (a)) JER BRI (H12F(a)) 23 1,106
Accrued expenses FEET 7 X 6,132 9,032
Other payables H fth &~ 5/ I8 876 893
Contract liabilities (Note (b)) BRBIE (MFb) 500 2,263
7,531 13,294
(@) Accounts payable (@) FEfERR
The average credit period on purchase is generally RBOHFHEEH RN F452
ranged 45 to 90 days. 90H -
The following is an aged analysis of accounts payable RBERRBIEEZBHMED
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the ZRRNBRRZERR DT

reporting period:

2022 2021

—EB-—F —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHETT FET

Within 90 days 90BN 23 550

91-120 days 91-120H - 556

23 1,106

(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHEE
Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled BHTER KB EEEERN
within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are NEENEHNBEBERBAREEM
classified as current and non-current based on the EFEREMIRBNKER
Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or services E-PBERRBEIER-

to the customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

24. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES - 24. B A B TR I HL B AY FRIE —
Continued &
(b) Contract liabilities — Continued (b) EHEE-&E
Movements in contract liabilities BREIEEE
2022 2021
o Sl - —E-—4F
HK$7000 HK$'000
FHETT TET
At 1 January n—HA—H 2,263 1,079
Decrease in contract liabilities BHBEERRFARER
as a result of recognising revenue e 25 i R
during the year (2,263) (705)
Increase in contract liabilities AR B ERERF R YER
as a result of receiving sales tHE & Mg AN
deposits during the year 500 1,924
Exchange realignment bE 55 8 B - (35)
At 31 December Rt=-A=+—~H 500 2,263
25. BOND PAYABLE 25. B E %
The movement of the bond payable is as follows: EfNEHFzZEBHMT:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E—F
HK$7000 HK$000
FET FET
At beginning of year F 1 6,180 -
Issue during the year FRETT - 6,000
Interest charge for the year REZNBFX 180 180
Repayment during the year FRER (6,360) -
At the end of year FR - 6,180
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company HE_ZT_—F+-_A=+—HILF
issued fixed rate corporate bonds with total principal E ANRAEITARE HEFE4X6,000,000
amount of approximately HK$6,000,000. BILZERRRIES-
The bonds payables are unsecured and interest bearing at B 5 R EER R EE REF A
fixed coupon rates 6% per annum and matured on 5 July Ke% st RRR_ZE-__+HAEH
2022. The principal and interests of the bond were fully - EHEAE RMNEERAFEER
paid during the current year. B AT o

146  Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an 7JL 7_]'%#&%:2 |§ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 9 June 2022, the Company issued the convertible bonds
(the “CB”) with principal amount of HK$9,250,000 at the
conversion price of HK$0.10 per share of the Company,
which, if fully converted, is equivalent to 92,500,000 new
shares of the Company.

The CB are denominated in HK$, is unsecured and will be
matured is on the second anniversary of the issue date. The
CB entitle the holder to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the
notes and the maturity date at an initial conversion price of
HK$0.10 (subject to adjustment, if necessary). If CB have
not been converted or redeemed, they will be redeemed
on the date of maturity (i.e. 9 June 2024) at par. Interest of
1.5% will be paid annually up until the settlement date.

At initial recognition, the equity component of the CB was
separated from the liability component. The equity element
is presented in equity heading “Convertible bonds reserve”.
The early redemption option is considered as closely related
to the host debt. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 10.86%.

At any time on or after 9 June 2022, the Group may redeem
the CB in whole or in part at the pre-determined redemption
prices. The fair value of the early redemption right was
insignificant.

On 15 June 2022, CB was fully converted into 9,250,000
ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.1 per ordinary share.

The movement of the liability component of the CB for the
year is set out below:

26. ] # I (& 5

RZE-_—_FRXANLB ARQAKRE
BESKRARRRMD0.108 TEITA
% 48 %8 /59,250,000 JT B 7] #A % &
F[amRES])  WEDSEER
F8E 7292,500,0008% A~ 2~ &) FT AL 17 o

AMREFUNEB LA BEEBEK
BRBETEHHREE —@ABFEEE-0
BMREHFB THAEAER  AJRESH
BTHHPEI A RMERIR SR
HXEOJO/ETE(E/\\Z‘KHTIT%DH%);H
ARBRESFERAERNARLER
AHMBEESFAEEBYER AR
B (- -_mWENAhB)K
EEEE - #§1%21.5% F| R G F 7
B EHEFEBR#H AL

) 2 W SR T%ﬁﬂxﬁ%Z%ﬁ%
SHAGHS PR - ERT IR ER
AATMRESRHE] 27 R ED
BWRARFEREYEE - 8 E&I
DZEBFERE10.86% °

t‘/ //

RITEZZFXNANARZENEMR
R AR B IRRIBEAEENED
BEELD2MIMo AT BBRESF T
BRENDABELNEK

R-ZZE-_—FXA+HRB K&
FEREREERTBRIETE
B#E R 59 250,000A% A A T%mﬂxo

FAABRKEFABRD 2E2EHHT
L

2022 2021
B8 —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Carrying amount at the beginning REF 2 FREE

of the year - -

Issued during the year FRELT 7,713
Conversion during the year FREH (7,713) -
Carrying amount at the end of the year FAREHEE - -

RESERE R AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

27.SHARE CAPITAL 27. 7
Number of Ordinary
Shares of ~ Number of ordinary
HK$0.01 each  shares of HK$0.04 Share capital
BR.01ETH FR0.04ETH
EBRYA EBRYA [
HK$000
FET
Authorised: EE:
At 1 January 2021, R_ZE-_—%—HF—H"
31 December 2021, “E-—-F+ZR=+-HK
1 January 2022 —E--f—-F—H 50,000,000,000 - 500,000
Share consolidation B1n & B (50,000,000,000) 12,500,000,000 -
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZF+-A=+—H - 12,500,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRARE:
At 1 January 2021 RZZ-_—-5—-H—-H 462,980,923 - 4,630
Issue of share under placing REREETR 15,432,800 - 154
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F+=ZA=1+—H
1 January 2022 E-Z-—#—F—R 478,413,723 - 4,784
Issue of shares under exercise of R EERERTRN
share option 19,250,000 - 193
Issue of shares under conversion of R R & AT (i)
convertible bonds (ii) 92,500,000 - 925
Share consolidation (i) Rt & B G) (590,163,723) 147,540,930 -
At 31 December 2022 R-B--—#+-A=+—-H - 147,540,930 5,902
Notes: et :
(i) On 24 June 2022, the Company completed a share ) RZBZZFRAZ+EA - AR

consolidation which involve the consolidation of every four
shares of HK$0.01 into one consolidated share of HK$0.04

each.

(i)  On 15 June 2022, the Company issued 9,250,000 of ordinary (i)
shares upon the convertible bondholders exercised the
conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds at the
conversion price of HK$0.1 per share.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

28. & 1E
(i) BR@EE

28. RESERVES
(i) Share premium

(ii)

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2010
Revision as amended from time to time), the share
premium and capital reserve of the Company may be
applied for payment of distributions or dividends to
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) provided
that immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Capital reserves

In 2009, the Company exercised a capital reduction
by reducing its share capital from HK$1,000,000,000
divided into 250,000,000 shares of HK$4.00 each to
HK$2,500,000 divided into 250,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each (the “Capital Reduction”). The effect
arising from the Capital Reduction was transferred to
the capital reserve account and applied for payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders.

(iii) Capital redemption reserves

Capital redemption reserve represents the share
repurchases made by the Company.

(iv) Reserves fund

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for foreign
investment enterprises (“FIEs”) established in the PRC
(excluding Hong Kong), a certain portion of the FIE’s
profits is required to be transferred to reserve funds
which are not distributable. Transfers to this reserve are
made out of the FIE's profits after taxation calculated
in accordance with accounting principles and financial
regulations applicable to PRC enterprises (“PRC GAAP”)
and shall not be less than 10% of profit after taxation
calculated in accordance with PRC GAAP. No such
transfer was made in either year as there was no such
profit after taxation from the FIEs in either year.

RESERE R AR

REASEESARE(ZZE—F
FRAIAN KIRER])  ARF
B dn it 8 & B At s Al BB
TR R T AR R MRER (T
R KZEEZOKIREE
B ARARENRETEKBREF
B Z BT -

(i) EXREE

RZZEZTANF ARABHER
X B1,000,000,000% 7T (9 A
250,000,000/% & %4.007% 7t 2
B&% 1% ) 38 4 22,500,000 7T (5
£250,000,0000% & #%0.017% 7T
2 &) (TRRABIRE]) o BRZHI
BEEZHEEREEAEBE
I A] (B VE 9 R 3K B AR BT R
%o

(i) EAXBED B

BARBEEFEEREARAMFELAR
R -

(iv) fEES

BREBEARETR (TEEEE)
AL Z MR B X ([ ERE
R ZHEBEREBRDINE
BRECEZETHRMNABEED
ANk EEERN - BRERE
TS BIORBERNPELE

GEFER R B ARG ([
EEEHENDFEIERED
XzBREEMNFE THER
REEFBEMREFELFE 2R
A& 5 M 2 10% ° M 8 F R 15
BREIEARELEZHRBRIE G
A 0 P B R Y 1T B R
B
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

28. RESERVES - Continued 28. it — &
(v) Translation reserves (v) BEXR#E
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange BEHREEDEMEREGINER
differences arising from the translation of the financial PTG R T E A B IME ZREIA K
statements of foreign operations as well as the effective HHRZFBINEBEREFRE
portion of any foreign exchange differences arising ERNEZR 2 BERED -
from hedges of the net investment in these foreign
operations.
29. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 29. FFERE S
Share of
net assets of
subsidiaries
215G B B
REFEE
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZEZ—F—H—RH Z—ZF=—%
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 +ZRA=t+—R -ZE-__F—H—H
M—E-—_F+=-R=+—H 2,029
The non-controlling shareholder CDC Mobile Medic RARAR—HWERANIEZERRK
Company (the “CDC") of a subsidiary of the Company, hold R CDC Mobile Medic Company
10% equity interest. Such subsidiary was dormant during ([CDCJ) FH10% AR < %[ B 2 7]
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. RBE_T__ B+

A=+—RHItFEIdELEE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &%

CE - —FF A=+ —HIFFE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEAE
At 31 December 2022, the lease liabilities were repayable WR_TE__F+-_A=+—H ET
as follows: EETHEBBWNT:
2022 2021
—E-—F B —4F
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Within 1 year —FRX - 544
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMFRA - 119
- 663
Less: Amount due for settlement with BN RE AR IETE’J
12 months shown under current liabilities 1218 A AR L ZE 2 & - (544)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ¥R IEGEAEE TH
shown under non-current liabilities N2EABEBEE 2 5RIE - 119

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities at 4.33% (2021: ranged from 2%-4.33%).

Lease obligations that is denominated in SDG other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set

HEEEEMOMEFHEEER
FMEAEBL33% (ZE - —F:12%F
4.33%) °

NERSEEREER NI ZER
BT EZ HEAEEHTIMT

out below:
HK$000
FEIT
As at 31 December 2022 R-—E-_—#+-_HA=+—H -
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-_—4F+-_HA=+—H 603
FEERRBIZERARALF —ZT-—FF3R 151
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (2013
Share Option Scheme”) on 31 December 2013, which was
approved by the Shareholders at the EGM held on the same
date. The 2013 Share Option Scheme will expire on 31
December 2023.

The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant share options to eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of
the Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible
means to reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide
benefits to the eligible participants.

According the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the board of
directors may grant share options to eligible participants
as defined in the 2013 Share Option Scheme and the
board of directors has its sole discretion considers eligible
for the 2013 Share Option Scheme on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all share options to be granted under the
2013 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company must not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of approval
and adoption of the 2013 Share Option Scheme provided
that the Company may at any time seek approval from
the Shareholders to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting where such limit is refreshed. Share options
previously granted under any share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
in accordance with such schemes or exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
refreshed.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

31.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -

Continued

The total number of shares issued and may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the
2013 Share Option Scheme and any of other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date
of grant unless such grant has been duly approved by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting
at which the relevant eligible participant and his associates
abstained from voting. Share options granted to substantial
Shareholders or Independent Non-executive Directors or
any of their respective associates in any 12-month period
in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital on
the date of grant and with a value in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 7 days from the
date of the offer upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the board of
directors. There is no general requirement on the minimum
period for which option must be held before an option can
be exercised. All option shares must be exercised within 10
years from the date of grant of options.

The exercise price was determined by the board of directors
and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and the (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

In accordance with the terms of the 2013 Share Option
Scheme, the options granted vested at the date of grant.

At 31 December 2022, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 19,290,900 (2021: 50,156,600),
representing 13% (2021: 10%) of the shares of the Company
in issue at that date.

RESERE R AR

31 UBBBERZHRRS -

o
REERTEBB(2EFEZA)EMI2
EAMARE T — = FEMRE
2 N AN B B 4 {A] H B AR i A Bl R
FTREERSHEENERE (BEE
T -EEFHEEMARITEERE)E
TEMEBIT RS EITHRGD BE
T EBBARHEEECBITRNMI%
HEBEELERKRRERE (F@AEE
B2HEREBBABARENG LK
BE)LERENETRRAZRIEAIE
Bl B o1 o fis A E AT 1218 A B A A =
ERRIBUIIERTESAFEESB
FRBMEARDNBREBRARA
REERE BB BITRA01% REE
B 385,000,000/8 7T * BIZE E LS IR
gl

EREBEREEANIEZAME/ARN
A ABRAAXNAREREA R
T DRHBREZTEHAESS
BE-BREETENBRESRISA
BREZEESRZ -—RRE-AE
BREANBRERT BHES TF
MTTHE -

TEENREERET TG
RTFIIFE 2 BB E : (VEET B
AARB 2 W E : () BEETA
2050 7B 3 AR D 2 P DB
R i) AR 7 2 B EE-

BRI —FT— = FRBBER & Z &5
BRENBREREH AR -

R-ZE-_—F+=-_A=+—0 1R
FZETEIE R BB HRITEE 2 BEAREFT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

Continued

During the year, 46,298,000 share options (2021:
38,582,000 share options) were granted under the 2013
Share Option Scheme, the movements of number of share
options under the Share Option Scheme during the years

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

31.
]

FR BE_-Z
X H46,298,00010 B E( T — —
F 138,582,000 B HE) HE_-ZF
T oFR-E-_—F+-_A=+—H

URABERZARRS -

— = F RS

\EFE - BB AR BIR T A 2L B

ZEEBWT
Number of share options
BREHA
Adjusted
during the
Outstanding at period upon Exercise
Granted  Exercised 31 December ~ Granted  Exercised Lapsed  effective of ~ Outstanding at price of Fair value
Category of Outstanding at during during 2021 and during during during the Share 31 December  Exercisable period of share options*  per option at
participant 1 January 2021 the year the year 1 January 2022 the year the year the year  consolidation 2022 share options (restated) grant date
R-B=-F
t=A=t-8
R-B=-% R=%-c-% RE#  R-B-ZF BRE SHERE
-A-H -A-H AftEX%E T-A=1-B TRE REHAMK
SRER HAfE  ERRE  FRTE HATE  FARY  FATE FAXN HABE HATE  BRETES (BE3) BRE
Directors 11,574,600 - (7,716,400) 3,858,200 - (3,850,000) (8,200) - - 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022 0.3480 0.03009
Ex ZZ-ZERATRER
ZRCZFRATEA
Director - - - - 4,629,800 - - (3,472,350) 1,157,450 11 April 2022 to 10 April 2024 0.3272 0.0297
% “Z-CFMmAt-BE
“RoRERATH
Employee 15,432,800 - - 15,432,800 - (15,400,000 (32,800) - - 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022 0.3480 0.03071
&8 - FRATERZE
“R--FRATEA
Employee - 38,582,000 (7,716,400) 30,865,600 - - - (23,149,200) 7,716,400 9 April 2021 to 8 April 2023 0.3280 0.0331
EB R -ENANRE
“E-ZF@ANA
Employee - - - - 41,668,200 - - (31,251,150 10,417,050 11 April 2022 to 10 April 2024 0.3280 0.3272
&8 “RICEREAT-AE
“RCRERATH
27,007,400 38,582,000 (15,432,800 50,156,600 46,298,000 (19,250,000) (41,000)  (57,872,700) 19,290,900
*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to O REETROMAMNBERT  BREZ

adjustment in the case of consolidation of the shares.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model.

The inputs into the model were as follows:

Grant date share price

Estimated fair value of a share option at grant date
Exercise price (before share consolidation)
Expected volatility

Expected life

Expected dividend yield

Risk-free interest rate

Rit B HRE

TTEEAEFLHE-

ZEQAREFRA_EAEBAFES
o s

R EAMBABELT

SHHBRENRLRROEFRAE
1THE(E (RBefn & HFAT)

EERIE
HHER
L&Y 6
ERERA X

Share options Share options

granted on granted on

11 April 2022 9 April 2021
R-ZBZZF R-ZB--F
At-H ANnA
RimERE RimERE
HK$0.0827 7T HK$0.0827 7T
HK$1,328,000% T  HK$1,277,00058 7T
HK$0.08187% 1T HK$0.0827& 7T
73.11% 101.79%

2 years 2 2 years 2
1.40% 0.138%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the past one
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on the directors’ best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural

considerations.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -
Continued

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the past one
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on the directors’ best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$1,328,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 in
relation to share options granted by the Company (2021:
HK$1,277,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Retirement benefits are paid by an overseas and Hong
Kong subsidiary to its employees who contribute to certain
retirement benefits plans managed by relevant independent
trustees/government authorities. The retirement benefits paid
by the overseas and Hong Kong subsidiaries are based on
a certain percentage of its employees’ relevant income in
accordance with the relevant regulations and are charged
to profit or loss as incurred. The subsidiaries discharged
its required contribution obligations upon payment of the
retirement benefits to its designated trustees/government
authorities.

During the year, the Group made retirement benefits scheme
contributions totaling approximately HK$1,282,100 (2021:
HK$1,619,000) (note 11). At the end of the reporting period,
there are no forfeited contributions.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 28 June 2022, the Group entered into the sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of all its 100% equity interest of TTG Asia Limited
and its subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”), which carried
out travel media operation. The transaction was completed
on 31 October 2022 at a consideration of HK$10,000,000,
on which date control of Disposal Group passed to the
acquirer. The analysis of the results of the Disposal Group is
as follows:

RESERE R AR

31.

32.

33.

Kﬁﬁ%E@Zﬁﬁﬁ

ML

EHIRERABEE —Fh AR RIRE
M SR IREE T - xR 2 B 8
FRERVRBEFYHIFTERL 17
RH RITRREZFEFEL KEMA
&FIAFE -

BE-_T-_—_F+-RA=+—8H1tF

& REB AR R LA E IR

R RE41,328,0008 L (-
—4 11,277,000 7T ) °

3R K48 R 5T &
BINREBWNBARM2EAEEE
UEFEANBINERER ZRKEH
IR B X RNEN BN RE
BB AR 2 ERENTIRIES
%ﬁ%EEEiZﬁ%WAM%ME

PHAEERELRREBEEKRA
froMBRARARN M RKBHNFHE
EXEABNER®ER NEETH
MEMKEE-

iﬂq AEEEEHRIKREFGT S #
R #1,282,0008 L (& = —

i 1,619,000 7t) (HIFE11) c 3R

EHR WED KR ZHK-

HEHB AT
RZE-_—FXNAZ-+N\H £A£H
H—2BIUE=FFLEEHHE U
HETTG Asia Limited R E KB Q7]
(THEEE])Z100% BE-HEE
ERERkEEBEER - BEXSER
—E-_F+A=Z+—HBHEK RE
£10,000,0007% 7T+ ) & £ B /9 1%
BERZAEREWEF BRIEKES
EB2EENTWT:
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES - Continued

33.HEMBART &

34.

156

Analysis of assets and liabilities EERBEIM
HK$’000
FET
Accounts and other receivables JFE WAt B 3 K L Ath JE LR IR 6,691
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTEER 10,065
Accounts and other payables JE 15 BR 3% B E fib & A< 5B (10,295)
Contract liabilities R ON=K (2,282)
Lease liabilities HEBRE (1,721)
Net assets disposed of B & EEFRE 2,458
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME AR 2ka
Cash consideration received BUYERERE 10,000
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE (2,458)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve HEBINEBEERD R
upon disposal of subsidiaries to profit or loss 2R HHE 1,220
Gain on disposal & W a 8,762
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRREHE:
Cash consideration RERE 10,000
Less: cash and bank balances B IRe RIRITHE R (10,065)
(65)

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders. In view of the
current cash position of the Group, the directors do not
intend to rely on external financing. Saved as the issue of
corporate bonds in 2021 and the issue of convertible bonds
in 2022, the Group had no other external borrowings as at
31 December 2022 and 2021. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from the prior years.

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and maximising the return to stakeholders. The Group's
capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed by the
directors. The Group is not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements. To maintain or adjust capital structure,
the Group may adjust dividend payment to shareholders
or issue of new shares or repurchase of existing shares as
well as issue of new debt or repurchase of existing debts.
Adjustments will be made to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions affecting the Company or
its subsidiaries, and the risk characteristics of the Group’s
underlying assets. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35. 2@ T A
Categories of financial instruments @ EMIAER
2022 2021
B —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$000
F#ET FET
Financial assets cREE
Measured at FVTPL: BRARBEFABRE:
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAREFABRZEREE 6,605 30,789
Measured at amortised cost: R A2
Accounts and other receivables JFEE L B R B A U R 54,193 68,129
Loan receivables FE W B K 9,731 8,913
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHH 31,199 37,160
95,123 114,202
Financial liabilities cRAE
Measured at amortised cost: RN ARG E
Accounts and other payables & A5F B R 2 EL A JE A~ R IR 7,031 11,031
Bond payable JE& - & 25 - 6,180
7,031 17,211

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
accounts and other receivables, loan receivables,
bank balances, financial assets at FVTPL, accounts
and other payables and bond payable. Details of the
financial instruments for the Group and bond payable
are disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
(foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk). The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

RESERE R AR

(b)

MHEAREERERBE

AEEZITZSRTABRRER
AR R e H At MR IE -~ FEMRE AR
fEﬁ ER M AREFABREZ
%@EQF ©JE A BR K N E A A
RIBA R B EFF e ZIKEEQ@E
IE:&FHE%Z%\ RER G B
BRI PR -

HZEeRmTAEBZRRSE
FEERKR RBESRAR KIS
[2 B (B 45 5 BE [ B~ A 2 [ B
REMERERE) R EZER
S BRI B E B %
ERBETEERER BRIA
RERERz TAEBETEER
e AKEEEEN ST ARR

ALK B IR N = A8 R B /Y
A EAE T E
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

158

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — Continued

(i) Market risk
Currency risk
The Group’s business transaction, assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB and SGD and
the functional currency of the Group is HKS$.
Considering the fact that most of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in its functional
currency except for sales denominated in US$, the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises
from sales denominated in US$.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and

35. &M T HE—-F

(b) BB EREERE R -

i

(i) AR
§] BE 2 B2
AREXBRS EERA
B IA AR K # 0% ot &t
B MAKREZHEERS
BT EBEIBRIER LA A
IS REBAEER
SUENEREE A&
[ Ay 2 2 SN EE LB 0K B 3%
TLRTEHE -

RmERR AEBEIANE
AENEBEERERRE

monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting ZEREERT
period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-f T ZBIZHf —T-—F
HK$7000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
FHET TET FHET TET
RMB AR 527 896 15,369 33,092
SGD ¥nsg oo - 2,570 - 10,216
Sensitivity analysis BURE AT

Since HK$ is pegged to US$, there is no significant
exposure expected on US$ transactions and
balances whilst the currency peg remains in place.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 35. 4TI A&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEBEERERBEX—
policies - Continued &

(i) Market risk — Continued (i) 5% E R

Currency risk — Continued

Sensitivity analysis — Continued

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to a 5% (2021: 5%)
increase and decrease in HK$ against SGD and
RMB: 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding amounts of Singapore and PRC
subsidiaries” HK$ denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
For a 5% strengthening of HK$ against SGD
and RMB, the post-tax loss for the year ended
31 December 2022 would be decreased by
approximately HK$nil and HK$16,000 respect
(2021: HK$270,000 and HK$36,000). For a 5%
weakening of the HK$ against SGD and RMB,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit and other comprehensive income.

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing
financial assets and liabilities with a floating
interest rate as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through

its investments in equity securities and P-Funds
measured at FVTPL. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risks. The Group’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity instruments quoted
in the Stock Exchange.

RESERE R AR

HNE B R — 4B
BREST—E&
INTHRESTERBILR
FimE TRk ARKESX E
FRTHE% (ZEZ—F:
5%) B B fR A EEEEFE ° 5%
BAEREEEZ B BRI
ERREEB ZHREL
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155 4 49 F 7% 7T %.16,00078
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JC}%36,0008 7T ) © W& T
gk ARETE5%
B2 ¥5 M & H A4 2 R A
ELRBARTE-

F & & b
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+Z A=+ —HB AEEL
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HiERER

AEERLREARERTA
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — Continued
(i) Market risk — Continued

160

(i1)

Other price risk — Continued

The sensitivity analysis have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date. A 5% increase or decrease is used
as it represents management’s assessment of the
possible change in price of equity securities.

If the prices of the respective equity securities that
are indexed to equity prices had been 5% higher/
lower, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended
31 December 2022 would increase/decrease by
HK$259,000 (2021: HK$1,108,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of equity securities held
for trading.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 5% (2021: 5%) higher/lower, the post-tax
loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$71,000
(2021: increase/decrease by HK$177,000) as a
result of the changes in P-funds.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that Group’ s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to accounts and other
receivables, loan receivables, and bank balances.

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are large banks have low credit risk.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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BEMARBEZLEME N
/Dz 295,000 0 (& = —
F:1,108,000/8 7T ) °

MAEBRATAENEBE
F/ 5% (T = —F:
5%) Al#z_—_T = —
+-A=+—BItFEENH
BEEBELEES®
ifo 3 A0,k 4 4971,0007%8 JT
(ZZ=——F:3Emn mdb
177,000 78) °

1= B LSRR R (B RV 1

EERBRERRNEEEF T
EREAHNBEEMERAE
Hjiﬁ,ﬁ\ﬁ%ﬁéﬂéiﬂ’\]}ﬁ TN

(ii)

SENEERRE %IEA
& W Bk &ET@FEH&
W E R S SRIT 48R

AEEEYRE RIRTTER
PMEANEERBRER U

DHEREF T RRRT
EERRK-
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nm ﬂﬁ%#ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #E-—F - —F+=-HA=+—HILFE

35. 8T H-&
b) HBEBREEREREE -

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — Continued &
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — (i) 15 B /& e KX 6l (6 7 14 —
Continued =

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of
each customer rather than the industry or
country in which the customers operate. The
Group has concentration of credit risk as 12%

AEENEERREERS
EEFPORERTRATE:

MIEX TP REMBENTTE
SBERATE - AEEFHE
SHRZEERR UTIAR

(2021: 20%) and 38% (2021: 54%) of the total BEAEBEAEF LATR

accounts receivable was due from the Group’s RE P8 RIE D BG4 K

largest customer and the five largest customers BRAEI12% (ZTZ—F:

respectively. 20% ) }38% (Z T —4F:
54% ) ©

Internal credit rating Description

Accounts receivable

Other financial assets

A EE TR Hat JE W B 3K HteRmEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does  Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
not have any due amounts credit impaired
il REUFEOARE BYEEMAHFE HRMEEERE NEARMEEES
—BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but settle in ~ Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
full credit impaired
EREE BEHEAZRREBAREER EOERAER PHBRMEERE NEARHESHAR
-EREERE
Doubtful There have been significant Increase in credit Lifetime ECL-not Lifetime ECL- not
risk since Initial recognition through Information credit impaired credit impaired
development Internally or external resources
] & BRABGHANIRENERET BOSRAN 2HRBEEERE 2HEHESER
REERBCBEEM -BREERE -BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset is credit-  Lifetime ECL-credit ~ Lifetime ECL-credit
impaired impaired impaired
3 BRBRAEECHRERRNE SHRMEERE 2HENESER
—RERE —FERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery, asset Is credit-impaired
fifl 3% BEBRPBEBARRBENRARE fAKEKRD FUADHEA REC M
HENFERT BECHBEEERE
Accounts receivable & W BR 7R

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

RESERE R AR

AEBHABEERBRA T
FESBENREFPETERE
Efft ZETHEFIRE
FRAENRKRBEIHRNER
ek BARTMERE NI
EZREFPHEEERNURE

EEMBEEERE — &
ME AEBETEXREFRE
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

162

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — Continued

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment —

Continued

Accounts receivable — Continued

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime
ECL allowance for all accounts receivable. To
measure the ECL accounts receivable have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The following table provides
information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk and ECLs for accounts receivable as at 31
December 2022 and 2021:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BtZ —FE - —F+=-H=+—HIFZE

35.EMITE-—&
w)@ﬁﬂﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%—
i
nu@fﬂ%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ—
E&Eﬂ__
AREBEAETEYBEHREE
BIZE9SR 5 5 5 AT 2 TEH
EEEBEBR ZB5HEHA
ERRERRBZHBEHE
EEERE - ATTE=EH
EEER BERARGEER
G 45 1 N 80 HA K U E U BR
HETOHE TRIBEHAEH
AEBR-_FT-_—_FK=-F
T+ -_A=+—HBEYH

B {5 & = b A0 e U BR SR Y 78
HEEBFBRER:
Expected loss rate Gross carrying amounts Loss allowance
AABRE BERHEE BRER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--f -—T-—F ZB--f -T--—-F CZBE--ZF -—T-_—F
HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET TET FET TET FET TET
Current (not past due) 28 (RaH) 1% 2% 12,092 11,370 121 264
1-90 days past due BE1E90H 17% 2% 11,550 8,067 1,984 186
91-180 days past due WE91Z180H 53% 7% 8,970 6,437 4,745 444
Over 180 days past due ~ #1E11808 bA £ 72% 80% 50,422 27,622 36,480 22,015
83,034 53,496 43,330 22,909
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on TEHEBEEIREBEEB AR
historical observed default rates over the expected TEHNBTERAENE
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward- W R AR EF A LB

looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — Continued

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment —

Continued
Accounts receivable — Continued
The following table shows the movement in

35. 8T H-&
b) HBEBREEREREE -

&

(ii) 15 E /& 2 % )5 18 7 18 —

&
AR — 8
NRIRIBIE RS 5 77 A 5L &

lifetime ECL that has been recognised for accounts WERF RN 2 HEHEE
receivable under the simplified approach. BEEE-

Lifetime
ECL
(Not credit-
impaired)
EHEH
EEEE
(BEERME)
HK$000
TET
As at 1 January 2021 R-ZZE_—F—H—H 32,094
Impairment losses reversed £ % R (B &5 B (9,185)
As at 31 December 2021 RZFZ—F+ZA=+—8 22,909
Impairment losses recognised BRI B B 18 20,562
Written off from disposal 65 B i 3 (141)
As at 31 December 2022 R-EB-_—_F+=-B=+—H 43,330

Loan and interests receivables

The management considers all loan receivables
as doubtful if the repayment of principal and/
or interest has been overdue for more than 3
months. Based on assessment by the management,
approximately HK$818,000 of loss allowance was
reversed during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: HK$695,000).

RESERE R AR

FEWRE R EAE

i A& &3 F B & Fa H
BE3EA BEEBEERE
FTERWENBRE R
EEEMAG REE=F
T oFF+ZA=+—HLHF
[ % [0 &5 18 B % £9818,000
BT (ZE Z—%F:695,000
WIT) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —E - —F 1+ - H=+—HIFEF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 35, 2@ TEH—-4&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MKEREERERBE -
policies — Continued &
(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment — (ii) 15 B2 B2 K 6l (8 571 —
Continued =
Loan and interests receivables — Continued JEW S TR T B — 4B
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TR E LW E KR
allowances that has been recognised for loan ZEERE 2 H R
receivables:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit  ECL (Credit
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HES
EEEE 2HES
128 A (BEE  FEFA
HFEEA HE) (FEHRE) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2020 and A 323
1 January 2021 TZA=+-Bk
—FZ-%-A—-H - 1,392 - 1,392
Impairment loss for year TERREER - 695 - 695
At 31 December 2021 and R-B=--F
1 January 2022 TZA=t-8HK
—E--&#-f-q - 2,087 - 2,087
Reversal of impairment loss for year 785 /& # [ (B 8 18 - (818) - (818)
At 31 December 2022 R=%==f
+=ZA=+-H - 1,269 - 1,269
Bank balances HRIT A4S R
The credit risk on bank balances is limited because HRAREF I REETAR
the counterparties are banks with high credit BHIRTT WMBRITERNE
ratings. ERRER-
The Group does not provide any guarantees which 7N £ B 4 12 HAE ] A BEfE
would expose the Group to credit risk. REEMEGEERERSE
1R o
Deposits and other receivables Ee MEAMERFIE
For deposits and other receivables, the directors BLIR & K H b fE LSRR
make periodic individual assessment on the E i%*ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁ%:ﬁ:ﬂﬁ
recoverability of deposits and other receivables BELRBRALGIEAEAIED
based on historical settlement records, past ﬁﬁﬁ%’fﬁti%&ﬁiﬁiﬁﬂ’i
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative H iR & N CH i FE W IR Y
information that is reasonable and supportive B] U @ 1 A AT E R T e EE
forward-looking information. The directors believe =R BRHERAR %
that there is no significant increase in credit risk :%’/’\IEE’JT_LQH o I I R
of these amounts since initial recognition and the B AL ERE1218 A
Group provide impairment based on 12 months EHREEEETRRE-R
ECL. Based on assessment by the management, BEEEN G BE-F
approximately HK$4,051,000 was recognised —CHE+-A=t—RHIF
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: JZ MR R E B 1E 494,051,000
HK$542,000). AL (ZF = —% 542,000
BIT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

35. 8T H-&
w)@ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%—

e

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — Continued

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — (i) 15 B /& e KX 6l (6 7 14 —
Continued &
Deposits and other receivables — Continued e hAMEWRGKIE &
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRIRE RS & H A&
allowances that has been recognised for deposits WHREERANEEREES
and other receivables: B
12m ECL
1218 A
FEBE
HK$°000
T
As at 1 January 2021 R_ZE_—F—H—H 38
Impairment losses recognised B HERIR B B 1R 542
Exchange adjustments DE 5, 58 B 13
As at 31 December 2021 RZFEZ—F+ZA=+—H 593
Impairment losses recognised £ HERIRE B 18 4,051
Written off from disposal o B i 3 (542)
Exchange adjustments DE 5, 5 B (16)
As at 31 December 2022 R-EBE-_—_F+=-A=+—H 4,086

(iii) Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk
management rests with the directors, which has
built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework for the management of the Group’s
short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate bank
balances and cash and continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows.

The following table analyses the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities
provided internally to the key management
personnel for the purpose of managing liquidity
risk. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

RESERE R AR

(iii) 7T B & % )& %

EEADE AR E EA
EREEE REEAEHE
ZHEM - FHERHEES R
RBEEESRK DREL
—EBeaEzRBERARE
BAER - N E AR RIR
THRHENRES URTEHE
REALERBASR AE
ERBESAR-

TERAMAKREREREERE
ABERBE2HUNEERDE
TRBRzEREBERBRED
FIRB R B HNRIDIEAE
B EBRN Rz %FHEH
AESRABZARMAR
TREMBHR - THMEEZ
MBI REEEXNAHE
= o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BtZ —FE - —F+=-H=+—HIFZE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

166

35. @ T H —

lllﬁ

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBEBEERERBEK -
policies — Continued &
(iii) Liquidity risk — Continued (iii) B & % A B — &

Weighted Total

average Within contractual
effective 1yearor  More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  on demand 1 year cash flow amount

CLEN:3)

nETH R—FR ReRE
BRF= FRER BE-F waE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

As at 31 December 2022 R-2--#+-A=1-AH
Accounts and other payables P 18 B 0 I Lt B N F0E - 7,531 - 7,531 7,531
7,531 - 7,531 7,531
As at 31 December 2021 RZZZ-F+ZA= Jr H

Accounts and other payables JE S BR 3R I LA R A 38 - 13,294 - 13,294 13,294
Bond payable ERES 6% 6,360 - 6,360 6,180
Lease liabilities HERRE 22.73% 549 119 668 663
20,203 119 20,322 20,137

(iv) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in the statement
of financial position in accordance with the fair
value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial
assets and liabilities into three levels based on
the relative reliability of significant inputs used in

measuring the fair value of these financial
and liabilities.

assets

The level in fair value hierarchy within which

the financial asset or liability is categorised

in its

entirety is based on the lowest level of input that is

significant to the fair value measurement.

(iv) @ T AZ AL EGFTE

DNAEFR
TREJRBEARESHR
MBRRRAR D SEE
MEREENMBE REG
EHFEMEERBBZA
REMERZEZH ABIE
e EE I %éﬂé?
kBESEN %_ﬂﬁ“

TRHEENBBEREMER
ARNRRBEESR BERE
AREFEEAFERERDN
XEFRBEABUE -

Level 1 Level 2 Total
-8 1 ECHY
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—Eg--f —-—E--% B -E-_-Ff CZE--E C-Z-_—F&
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET FET FET FET FET
Financial assets at FVTPL: &2 E AR
ZEREE:
— Listed securities held —¥{EE EZ
for trading & 5,180 26,539 - - 5,180 26,539
- P-Funds -LEES = - 1,425 4,250 1,425 4,250
All of the Group’s fair value measurement were REBFERREGTERRK
remeasured at the end of the reporting period. HEHREHE -
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/_ﬁ (=) j%#&?—%ﬁfj

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 5. &M IE-&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBEEBEERERBEK -
policies - Continued &
(iv) Fair value measurements of financial (iv) @ TAZ 2R EFME —

instruments — Continued

Fair value hierarchy — Continued

There were no transfers of financial instruments
between levels in the hierarchy for the both years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Fair value at Fair value at
31 December 31 December
Financial assets 2022 2021
R=2== R-ZT_—%
+=A +T=AH
=t+—-B2 =+—Bz2
TREE NAE NAE
HK$000 HK$000
FET FAET
Listed equity securities 5,180
in Hong Kong
BB LTRAES
P-Funds 1,425
LEESR

/Vf‘/%
NREER—E

HE-T-_—_FR-_FT=-—
F+ZA=+—HBIEMESF
B &EHzEATESHT
BE#ERo

Fair value Valuation techniques
hierarchy and key input

DRE BERTEK

8 BeEHZ ABE

Level T Quoted bid prices in

an active market

—& ERBRMBZHRE

Level 2 Net assets value

£ AEFE

There was no change in valuation technique
in respect of P-Funds for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021. There were no transfer
between level and level 2 during the year.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group invested into
one P-Fund (2021: three). The Group has
determined that the reported net asset value of the
P-Funds were approximate to its fair value at the
end of the reporting period because the investment
portfolio for each of the P-Funds are public traded
securities listed on Tokyo Stock Exchange (2021:
overseas stock exchanges (i.e. Shenzhen Stock
Exchange and Tokyo Stock Exchange)), which
accounted for over 100% of the net assets value
for each of the P-Funds (2021: 90%).

RESERE R AR

BHE-_Z-—F#R-_T——
F+-A=+—BHILEE"
T 55 B 4 10 17 (25 45 41T 48 e
BoAGEE F—HEE
1% > PR 4 3 e AT AR R

ﬂ:$::¢+iﬂz+—

CAEBEKRET X (=
%:—Efswﬂggéo
TEBEETAEESHNE
EREEFEEENREH
KOAARBERE REALE
LEESNKEHAE AR
%/‘]_J :m%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ(—7—_
FBINBER S (AR
NEBEERGMERREBEHFR
SH))ETHARARS&E
% Eﬁﬂn%ﬁéﬁﬁﬁ
E#100% (Z T = —F:
90% ) °
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

37.

168

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities,
and non-cash changes.

flows.

including both cash
Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified as cash flows from financing
activities in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash

36.

METHELEZEGEZHK

T%Eiﬁu$$l%$§}$§mz$21%
BENES BREASMIFESE
%Eé“é%ﬁ?iZ%ﬁz%ﬁ%ﬁE&*
XIE%//|LEK$%@%¢ BEeEMER
THOERRMETDMSREREZE
f&e

Bond Lease

payable liabilities Total

ENES HEsE BEr

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

FHET FHEIT FHEIT

At 1 January 2021 N - 955 955

Addition NE 6,000 527 6,527

Repayment BN - (836) (836)

Imputed interest paid EREER B 180 20 200

Exchange realignment PE H % - (3) (3)
At 31 December 2021 and R-T-—%F

1 January 2022 +=-—A=+—8xKk

—E-—_#%#—H—H 6,180 663 6,843

Addition NE 180 3 -

Disposal k= - (663) (663)

Repayment B (6,000) - (6,000)

Imputed interest paid B R E R B (360) (3) (180)

Exchange realignment P& 5 A& - _ _
At 31 December 2022 R-ZEBE-Z—F

+=A=+—H — — -

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37.EEBE RS

Other than the remuneration paid to the directors and
employees of the Group as set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements, who are considered as
the key management personnel of the Group, the Group
did not have any other significant compensations to key
management personnel. The remuneration of directors
and key executives is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

Briz e MBS MR M 1 2R S T T A

EEEZENEE (REREALAEH

METEEEAB)NFHIN REE

TENFEERABXNEAMEME

AREM - BEERETETBABZHM

TJEE TMEEeRERMBARE LT
BIRETE

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. KX DNBEEME A TIFE

OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out

below.

Proportion of ownership interest and

ARRARBERRERLRARFTAELZ
MEBARFEHIIT -

Place of voting power held by the Company
incorporation/ Paid up issued/registered ARARZKREZRREELS
Name of subsidiaries registration capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
HMERL,/ HRERT/
MWEAREE sk AMEF =83 Gif:3 EXE 3
2022 2021 2022 2021
“E--E -ZI--% ZBIZE Z—T--F
TTG Global Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares 100% 100% - - Investment holdings
BEBREERERAR BA 10058 & @R REER
TTG Asia Media Pte. Ltd Singapore 100,000 ordinary - - - 100% Provision of advertising
shares of SGD1 each and event organizing
services and magazine
TTG Asia Media Pte. Ltd ¥ 1%% 100,000/ & 137 1% REESREREE
T ERK FR - DA R AR A
Netplus Media Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Provision of advertising
agency service
EREREARAR Bk 1008 B REHEERERE
Sino Impact Group Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - - Investment in securities
US$1 each
Sino Impact Group Limited ~HBEXEHE 1REREEIETZ BHERE
]
EAFEEER ORI) PRC Paid up capital - - 100% 100% Virtual reality business
RiERAF HK$10,000,000
AnzmER ORI) FE R 710,000,000 T ERABER
BWEBRRR
Nation Wealth Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Money lending
Nation Wealth Limited Bk 1REBR HifE

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year. The above table lists the subsidiaries of
the Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

RESERE R AR

—ET - —FFR

RELRBENEB QB ETEAER
Ene LRI EZTRABYAREE
BRYAEEBNEIEZEZASRENE
RE-BEEZAR/RHEEBHBRARZ
HEREEREAN TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B E —E - —#F+ _H=+—HIFZF

39. KA QA B MR R KR R iFE
(@) 227 B AR R &

39.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of Financial position of the Company

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Non-Current Assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBARZIRE - -
Equity investments at FVTPL BRAREHABRZ
BRARE - 2,675
- 2,675
Current Assets RBEE
Equity investment at FVTPL BAREFABRZ
%$&ﬁ 1,425 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries e L Bf B - 46,650
Cash and bank balances fﬁi&fﬁﬁ ﬁ? 67 687
1,492 47,337
Current Liabilities REAE
Accounts and other payables FERTER R )SZ/HJJ@TEH 2,170 4,592
Amount due to subsidiaries FETH B A 1,156 -
Bond payable JE 15 & 25 - 6,180
3,326 10,772
Net Current (Liabilities)/Assets BRB(EE) EE (1,834) 36,565
Net (Liabilities)/Assets F(BE) EE (1,834) 39,240
Capital and Reserves IRA K 4
Share capital [N 5,902 4,784
Reserves e (7,736) 34,456
Total Equity DA (1,834) 39,240

Approved and authorized for issued by the board of

directors on 31 March 2023.

R-ZE-_==H=+_HKE=E
SRR T

Wang Tao Yang Xingan
IE BREZ

Director Director
EF EF

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{ZE —F - —&F+-A=+—HIFEZF

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. K AT BERRR R HE—

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY - Continued "
(b) Movement in the company reserves (b) X TFREEEH
Share Convertible Capital
Share option  Capital bonds  redemption  Accumulated
premium reserve  reserve reserve reserve losses Total

TRR
EtEE BRERE HFXEE E5EE ESRORE  ROEER ai
HKS$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HK'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TET TET  TET THET TET TEL  TEL

At 1 January 2021 RZZ=Z-5-f-A 77,611 822 755 - 11,690 23,000 113,938
Loss and other comprehensive ~ FRBEREH2ERT

expenses for the year - - - - - (81,907) (81,907
Recognition of equity-settled AURTEENRD R

share-base payment ERZAR - 1,277 - - - - 1,277
Issue of share upon exercised ~ E{TERERERITREG

the share option 1,635 (487) - - - - 1,148

At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ-F+ZfA=1—H

1 January 2022 k=Z--%—-F-H 79,246 1,612 755 - 11,690 (58,847) 34,456
Issue of share upon exercised ~ RTREREL{TRA

the share option 1,878 (589) - - - - 1,289
Lapsed of equity-settled WRAEE AR RERZ

share payment [FENR - (n - - - 1 -
Recognition of equity-settled ~ BRNBAREENRER

share bond payment RERZAH - 1,328 - - - - 1,328
Issue of convertible bonds BOTRRES - - - 1,537 - - 1,537
Conversion of convertible bonds B ATk E% 8,325 - - (1,537) - - 6,788
Loss and other comprehensive ~ FREEREM2ERX

expenses for the year - - - - - (53,134) (53,134
At 31 December 2022 W-B--f+-A=+-H 89,449 2,350 755 - 11,690 (111,980) (7,736)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B HE

RESULTS ¥E

Year ended 31 December

BE+-RA=+-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

—g-= T T ZE-hE ZZE-)N\F

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$

B BT BT BT BT

Revenue BER 66,267 63,663 41,150 107,365 94,517
Loss for the year EEAFEEER:

attributable to:

Owners of the Company NSEY DN (43,023) (22,130) (23,597) (2,665) (28,625)

Non-controlling interests FERRR R & - - - - -

(43,023) (22,130) (23,597) (2,665) (28,625)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE - BERFERER
INTERESTS

At 31 December

R+=-A=+-8H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EB-—f Z—%--— —EZFF ZT-NEF ZZ-N\F
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT T BT BT
Assets BE 110,423 154,684 202,950 237,474 223,070
Liabilities afE (7,618) (20,137) (46,340) (61,719) (45,263)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR (2,029) (2,029) (2,029) (2,029) (2,029)
100,776 132,518 154,581 173,726 175,778
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